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Wednesday, December 7, 2011


--- On commencing at 9:35 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.

The Board sits today on the matter of an application filed by Toronto Hydro-Electric System Ltd. dated August 23rd, 2010 with the Ontario Energy Board, under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, seeking approval for changes to the rates that Toronto Hydro charges for electricity distribution to be effective May 1st, 2011.

The Board assigned File No. EB-2010-0142 to the application.  The Board issued a notice of application hearing dated September 15th, 2010.

On March 25th, 2011, a settlement agreement was filed with the Board which incorporated settlement of most outstanding issues in this proceeding.

On March 29th, 2011, the Board announced its acceptance of the settlement agreement.  Unsettled issues remained in five areas, one of which was the appropriateness of Toronto Hydro's suite metering cost allocation, and whether or not Toronto Hydro should establish a separate rate class for multi-unit residential customers that are served directly by Toronto Hydro through its suite metering provision.

On July 7th, 2011, the Board issued its partial decision and order in this proceeding.  Among other things, the partial decision found the Board would require supplementary evidence to be filed on the suite metering issues as outlined in the partial decision.

The partial decision stated the Board would issue a procedural order under the current docket number containing filing instructions to Toronto Hydro and outlining the subsequent procedural steps to facilitate further discovery and examination.

On July 28th, 2011, the Board issued Procedural Order No. 10, which required Toronto Hydro to file supplementary evidence by August 31st, 2011.

On July 29th, 2011, Toronto sent a letter to the Board which noted that it had received Procedural Order No. 10, and, while it was prepared to file the required evidence, for reasons outlined in the letter, it could not do so until August 31st, 2011 -- by the August 31st, 2011 date established in Procedural Order No. 10.

Toronto Hydro requested that the Procedural Order No. 10 be amended to provide for a filing date of October 17th, 2011 for the filing of Toronto Hydro's evidence.

On August 8th, 2011, the Board issued Procedural Order No. 11, which granted Toronto Hydro an extension until September 30, 2011, and revised the remaining dates established in Procedural Order No. 10.

Toronto Hydro filed the supplementary evidence on September 30th, 2011.

On October 7th, 2011, the Smart Sub-metering Working Group, an intervenor in the proceeding, filed a notice of motion requesting relief as outlined in the motion.

On October 12, 2011, the Board issued Procedural Order No. 12, which established that the Board would hear the motion orally on October 14th.

The Board issued its decision on the motion at the conclusion of the oral hearing.  Among other matters, the Board determined that supplementary interrogatories related to the supplementary evidence could be filed by the parties on or before October 20th, 2011 and that Toronto Hydro was to respond to all interrogatories on or before November 4th, 2011.

On November 4th, 2011, Toronto Hydro filed its interrogatory responses.  As established in the P.O. No. 10, a technical conference was held on November 9th, 2011.  The Board sits today to continue its hearing of the last remaining issue in EB-2010-0142.

As the saying goes, I apologize for the length of that.  I didn't have enough time to write a short one.

Anyway, I will take appearances at this point.
Appearances


MR. RODGER:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Mark Rodger, counsel to Toronto Hydro-Electric System Ltd.

MR. O'LEARY:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Dennis O'Leary for the Smart Sub-metering Working Group.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, Panel.  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Buonaguro.

MS. SEBALJ:  Kristi Sebalj for Board Staff, and with me are Martin Davies and Neil Mather.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good.  Thank you very much.

Unless there are any other matters, Mr. Rodger, we will go to you for introductions and opening remarks and presentation of your panel.

MR. RODGER:  Yes, thank you, sir.  Toronto Hydro does have one panel comprising of three witnesses, and we are ready to proceed.  So I would ask the witnesses to come forward to be sworn in, please.
TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM LTD. - PANEL 1


Michael Marchant, Sworn

Colin McLorg, Sworn

Darryl Seal, Affirmed

Examination by Mr. Rodger


MR. RODGER:  So, Mr. Seal, starting with you first, you are the manager, rates and treasury operations, of Toronto Hydro-Electric System Ltd.?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

MR. RODGER:  And your CV has been provided to the Board and parties as Exhibit A1, tab 9, schedule 2-14?

MR. SEAL:  Yes.

MR. RODGER:  And, Mr. McLorg, you are manager, regulatory policy and relations, of Toronto Hydro-Electric System Ltd.?

MR. McLORG:  That's right.

MR. RODGER:  And your CV has also been provided to the Board as Exhibit A1, tab 9, schedule 2-19?

MR. McLORG:  Yes, it has.

MR. RODGER:  And, finally, Mr. Marchant, you are manager, CDM program delivery and business development, of Toronto Hydro-Electric System Ltd.?

MR. MARCHANT:  Correct.

MR. RODGER:  And your CV has been provided to the Board as Exhibit A1, tab 9 schedule 2-21?

MR. MARCHANT:  Yes.

MR. RODGER:  Now, panel members, was the application and supporting materials prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. SEAL:  Yes, it was.

MR. MARCHANT:  Yes.

MR. McLORG:  Yes.

MR. RODGER:  And I understand, Mr. Seal, that you have a couple of corrections to make to the record.  And, in that regard, Mr. Chair, I've just prepared two documents for you and my friends.  One is three pages of the -- taken from the technical conference transcript of November 9th, and the second is the November 4th, 2011 response to Board Staff interrogatory 10.

Do you have those materials, sir?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Do we have them up here?  Yes.  Thank you.

MR. RODGER:  All right.  So, Mr. Seal, if I could just start with the technical conference, I understand the first correction you want to make is on page 14.  If you could just identify what the correction is, please?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.  On line 6 of page 14, it identifies the speaker as Mr. O'Leary, whereas it was myself.

MR. RODGER:  It should read Mr. Seal?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. RODGER:  Then the next page is page 20 of the transcript?

MR. SEAL:  On page 20, line 6 of the transcript, it reads, "according to the Board's guidelines improperly in the past".

The court reporter heard me say "improperly", and, if I did, I misspoke myself and I meant to say "properly".

MR. RODGER:  All right.  Then page 25 of the transcript?

MR. SEAL:  Again, a minor correction on line 4.  Where it says "Mr. Seal", this was Mr. O'Leary speaking.

MR. RODGER:  All right.  And if I could now turn to the Board Staff Interrogatory 10 and your response, what is the correction there, please, that you want to make?

MR. SEAL:  So in our response to Board Staff question 10, at the bottom of the first page, lines -- line 25, where we talk about "some meter costs, specifically wholesale meter costs, which are in the meter cost US of A account", upon close examination of the costs that are in the various meter accounts, we have determined that the wholesale meter costs actually are not part of the meter cost account, but are captured in one of the other US of A accounts.

MR. RODGER:  Okay, thank you.  So with these corrections, panel, is the evidence before the Board, to the best of your knowledge, an accurate reflection of the company's affairs?

MR. SEAL:  Yes, it is.

MR. MARCHANT:  Yes.

MR. McLORG:  Yes, it is.

MR. RODGER:  Do you each adopt this evidence as your own evidence in this proceeding today?

MR. SEAL:  Yes.

MR. MARCHANT:  Yes.

MR. McLORG:  Yes.

MR. RODGER:  All right.  So, Mr. Seal, if I could turn to you, the Chairman referenced the July 7th, 2011 partial decision and order from this Board, and on page 36 of that partial decision, the Board states that:

"The objective of the subsequent phase of the proceeding is to establish both the cost allocation protocols for the new customer class, and to establish the initial tariff that THESL will charge for this service."

So to start, Mr. Seal, what is the new tariff that Toronto Hydro proposes?


MR. SEAL:  The new tariff that we propose can be found on table 4 of our evidence, Exhibit L1, tab 5, schedule 1.


And in short, what it determined, based on the results of the cost allocation model, is that for the new suite meter Quadlogic class, a fixed rate of $16.29 per customer per 30-day period, and a variable rate of 2.701 cents per kilowatt-hour.


And this compares to the remainder of the residential class, based on the model results, which show a fixed rate of $20.16 per customer per 30 days, and 1.646 cents per kilowatt-hour.

MR. RODGER:  Can you briefly describe how you arrived at this tariff?


MR. SEAL:  Certainly.  In general, we made use of the Board's cost allocation model to allocate the appropriate cost to the Quadlogic class and the other customer classes.

MR. RODGER:  Could you briefly walk us through the cost allocation steps that you took?


MR. SEAL:  Sure.  A number of factors went into the revised model.  Firstly, we identified the number of customers that we expect to be served be by Quadlogic technology in 2012, and we determined that number to be 24,898 customers, which is our mid-year estimate of the number of customers served by this technology.

Secondly, we updated our estimate of the monthly load for the Quadlogic customers, based on the most recent information we had of Quadlogic-served customers.  And this resulted in an average load of 334 kilowatt-hours per month for a Quadlogic customer.

We then turned to the cost drivers for the class, and looked at the drivers that we felt differ between the Quadlogic customers and other residential customers, to treat those costs within the Quadlogic class.


And as had been identified in the previous BDR studies, we determined there were three main differences in costs.  The first was the meter capital cost for Quadlogic customers, and there we had determined that the capital costs for a Quadlogic meter is approximately $550 per meter.


The meter-reading costs for the Quadlogic customers were determined based on our estimates for reading these meters, relative to a residential meter, the way the cost allocation model works.  So we had a multiplier of 3.6 compared to a typical residential meter.

And the third main factor was the treatment of secondary costs to the class, and similar to the BDR study, we determined that the secondary costs that are attributable to these customers should be reduced, and based on the number -- our estimate of the number of buildings and customers that were served by secondary, we have adjusted the weighting factor down to 8 percent for the Quadlogic class.

Those are the main differences.


A couple of other items.  We had indicated that we had not included any marketing costs in the analysis for 2012 for -- specifically for suite metering.  However, overall marketing costs for THESL are included as part of the cost allocation, and get allocated to all classes, including Quadlogic class.


So based on those inputs into the cost allocation model, we have determined that the revenue-to-cost ratio for the suite meter class for 2012 comes out at 100.5 percent.  So these are our updated numbers based on the corrections that we made.


And this compares to the balance of the residential class, whose revenue-to-cost ratio comes out at 89.1 percent.

So from that cost allocation exercise, then, to derive the tariff, we first set the revenue-to-cost ratio at unity for the Quadlogic cost.  So this essentially meant reducing the revenue to be generated from that class by a marginal amount.  I think it ended up being about $44,000.

So that revenue that we were no longer going to collect from the Quadlogic class, we then attributed to the remainder of the residential class.


With respect to rate design, we have designed the --


MS. HARE:  Can I just interrupt for a second?

MR. SEAL:  Sure.

MS. HARE:  Because I am reading on the screen, because I didn't catch it.


When you said the -- it comes out to -- did you say 105 percent or 100.5 --


MR. SEAL:  100.5 percent.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. SEAL:  So with respect to the overall rate design, we have designed rates and tariff for the new Quadlogic class on the same basis as rates and tariffs for the residential class, so consisting of a fixed component and a variable component.


We developed the amount to be recovered from the fixed and variable components using the same ratios for these components as we are collecting currently from the entire residential class.


MR. RODGER:  Finally, Mr. Seal, have you provided a detailed listing of all the assumptions which you have used in undertaking this analysis you have just described?


MR. SEAL:  Yes.  The assumptions that we've used were all spelled out in our direct evidence, and we provided a detailed summary of those assumptions as part of the motion hearing on October 14th.  They were contained in Exhibit KM1.2.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Seal.


Mr. Chair, the panel is now available for cross-examination.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  Mr. Rodger, were you intending to mark the two, or just have people manually make those corrections in their own transcripts and in their own IRs?


MR. RODGER:  After the proceeding today, I was going to send a note out to all parties.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.

MR. RODGER:  And ask that the transcript be officially amended.

MS. SEBALJ:  So need to mark these two?


MR. RODGER:  Unless you would like to.

MS. SEBALJ:  No, that's fine.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. O'Leary?

MR. O'LEARY:  I think I have been volunteered to go first, Mr. Chair.  But in terms of -- I understand my friend's suggestion about the technical conference transcript and we accept those changes and had noted them as we reviewed it.

But in terms of the change to the interrogatory of Board Staff, is that going to be marked as an exhibit?  Because it is a matter I was going to raise today and -- or is it just going to be sent around as a correction?


MR. RODGER:  We can mark it as an exhibit, Mr. Chair, if that is what the parties prefer.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think that would be appropriate, Mr. Rodger.  Thank you.


MR. RODGER:  Okay.


MS. SEBALJ:  It will be KH3.1.
EXHIBIT NO. KH3.1: REVISED BOARD STAFF INTERROGATORY

MR. BUONAGURO:  If I can jump in for a second, the copy I have is simply a reproduction of the existing IR, so there is no correction on it.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No.  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  I was going to ask that the one that gets marked is an actual restatement of the response.  I think your witness spoke to it, Mr. Rodger, but I was having a little difficulty following what the new wording would look like.

So if we could do that?


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Seal, is this something you could simply, if it's a matter of replacing a word, do that now?  Or do you want to wait until the break and come back with some language that we could put before the Board to correct the mistake?

MR. SEAL:  It is more than just changing a word.  And I could do that through the written response, or I could explain.  I am in the Board's hands.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Perhaps if you could provide a restatement of it in writing, and speak to it if you wish, but that could then form part of the record.  That would probably be best.

MR. SEAL:  Thank you.

MR. O'LEARY:  I will take the witness to that, and hopefully that will deal with it today, as well, but a restatement would be helpful.

The only other housekeeping matter, I have, Mr. Chair, is we prepared a document brief, which we hope will facilitate our questions today and expedite matters.  It contains copies of the materials that we may take the witness panel to today.

I would ask that it be marked as an exhibit.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Ms. Sebalj?


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  I am assuming, then, that we have not yet marked the IR response, and we will do that once the restatement is made? 


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  Perhaps we can just keep this new exhibit number you have just issued and we will use that number for the revised IR response.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  So the document brief of the Smart Sub-metering Working Group will then be KH3.2.
EXHIBIT NO. KH3.2:  DOCUMENT BRIEF OF THE SMART SUB-METERING WORKING GROUP

MR. O'LEARY:  Unless there is anything else, we are ready to proceed, Mr. Chair.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. O'Leary.
Cross-Examination by Mr. O'Leary

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Good morning, panel.

Mr. Seal, just to begin with, you've summarized the evidence that Toronto Hydro has filed in respect of this issue in this proceeding, but I take it you would agree with me that what we're here to do today is to dig a little further and examine the cost allocation study that Toronto Hydro completed to determine if it is appropriate to be accepted by the Board; correct?

MR. SEAL:  I believe so; correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  And, thus, if we find that there should be some changes to the assumptions or the inputs and that changes the numbers, that would have an impact on the revenue requirement, and, specifically the -- for the Quadlogic rate class, specifically the revenue-to-cost ratio; correct?

MR. SEAL:  I mean, my expectation is that if there are -- if the Board directs us to make changes to the assumptions that we've made, that it would make a difference to the revenue-cost ratio that would come out.

MR. O'LEARY:  Similarly, that could have an impact, then, on the rate design that you are proposing.  You will agree that is also a live issue here today?

MR. SEAL:  The actual tariff that falls out in the rate design -- well, the tariff that falls out is -- would be a direct result of whatever costs -- revenue-cost ratio or allocation results that the Board determines.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.

MR. McLORG:  Mr. O'Leary, if I may, just for the clarity of the record, could you elaborate a little bit on what you consider the term "rate design" to include?

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, Mr. McLorg, I think we will come to that a little later in the proceeding.

MR. McLORG:  I see.  That's fine.

MR. O'LEARY:  And I will have some questions about that, rest assured.

But let's start with if I could ask you, first of all, to turn to the brief that we've just marked as an exhibit, 3.2.  I may just refer to that as "the brief" here today.

And just to put your nerves at ease, with the exception of one production in here -- and even that one is mostly a reproduction of some of the evidence.  Everything that has been produced in this brief is in the evidence.  It is either an IR response or an undertaking response or a Board decision.

But if I could, first of all, turn you to tab 2, which is the February 18th cost of service study that was prepared by BDR?

Could you just correct me if I'm wrong -- and I believe, Mr. Seal, you would answer this -- but did Toronto Hydro undertake an RFP process to retain an outside consultant to complete the cost allocation study initially?

MR. SEAL:  We did go through an RFP process.

MR. O'LEARY:  You did.  And you retained BDR as the independent consultant that would come forward and provide their opinions in respect of the appropriate cost allocation study; correct?

MR. SEAL:  That is correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  And we know that you filed one in November of 2010.  There was a motion, and then the Board asked you to go back and do this further study in February of 2011; correct?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So you presented what appears at tab 2, and in evidence at L1, tab 4, schedule 1, as Toronto Hydro's position.  You supported it when you filed it.  You did?  Did you not?

MR. SEAL:  This was BDR's study.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  But did you take any exceptions to what they said in the report?

MR. SEAL:  No, we did not, generally.

MR. O'LEARY:  No.  But if you thought they had done something improper, I presume that you would have brought it to the attention of the Board earlier?

MR. SEAL:  If we thought they had -- they were incorrect in their analysis or had done something wrong, yes, we would have.

MR. O'LEARY:  Fair enough, okay.

And if I could take you, then, to page 14 of that document?  And just so I can tell you the area we're dealing with now, and you raised it, in part, you were talking -- in your introduction and evidence-in-chief, you were talking about one of the cost drivers that you looked at, and that is meter capital.

And if I look at subsection 4.6.2 at page 14 of this report, it reads that:
"By definition of the Quadlogic class, all of the customers have Quadlogic meters.  The cost applicable to a Quadlogic meter, $440, was therefore applied as the meter capital allocator to the full number of customers in the class (9,149).  Correspondingly, 9,149 meters at $440 each were deducted from the Other Suite metered class."


Just to put it into context, $440 was the cost of the meters that was available to you at the time this report was prepared; correct?

MR. SEAL:  That is correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  And in your current study, the number is now 550?

MR. SEAL:  The difference being that this study was based on 2009 costs.  Our current study is based on 2012 costs.

MR. O'LEARY:  Sure.  Fine.  I am just trying to make sure everybody understands where we are and why there is a difference in the numbers.

Similarly, the estimated number of customers has gone up from 9,149 in 2009 to under 25,000 in 2012; right?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  But for the purposes of the BDR study, would you agree with me that what they have done in this study is they have directly allocated those costs to the Quadlogic class?

MR. SEAL:  That is not my recollection of the way that they did their analysis.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, could we just read 4.6.2 again?

MR. SEAL:  I can read that, but that is not my understanding of the way that they did their analysis.

MR. O'LEARY:  Is there any way of determining whether they are, or they are not, directly allocating those costs?

MR. SEAL:  I am just looking at some of the other pages from the study to see if I can determine.

If I look at page 18 of the BDR study, here you will see the revenue-to-cost summary base scenario, and there is three columns of data, residential non-suite metered, residential suite metered and Quadlogic customers.

So the first column would be all non-MURB, multi-unit residential customers, the typical residential customer.  The second column was the suite metered customers that were not served by Quadlogic meters, and then the third column is the Quadlogic meters.

If I look about a third of the way down the page, there is a line called "Direct Allocation".  You will see for the Quadlogic customers there is 90,000 in there for direct allocation.

That $90,000 is related to the marketing expenses which were discussed in the evidence, in BDR's evidence, but that is all that is in there.  If there were directly allocated costs associated with meters, they would show up in that line.  So that leads me to believe they did not directly allocate it.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Certainly, I will be honest, it was our understanding, including that of our consultants, that BDR had directly allocated those amounts based upon their wording at 4.6.2.

But let me ask you this.  Do you agree that the Quadlogic meters that will be used by members of the Quadlogic class only benefit members of the Quadlogic class?

MR. SEAL:  They only serve those customers.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  Therefore -- they only serve them.  Therefore, only those customers benefit from their use; correct?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  Right.  And the cost of those meters are clearly ascertainable?

MR. SEAL:  We have a number for those meters, capital cost.

MR. O'LEARY:  Sure.  So isn't it fair to say, therefore, that all of the necessary requisites for direct allocation have been met, and that the cost of those meters should be directly allocated?

MR. SEAL:  As we indicated in our response to one of the interrogatories, that is one approach that can be taken.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Let me just turn you back to your evidence, then, Mr. Seal.

If I could turn you to tab 1, which is your supplementary evidence which was filed September 30th, and if I could turn you to -- first of all, on page 4 in the second paragraph, you confirm that the estimated installed cost of the meter is $550.

And then you go on to say, in the next paragraph that:

"All meter costs are identified as being one of the key cost differences for this class, and these costs can be significantly affected by technological choice and external cost."

So if we stop there, first of all, to our understanding, you're still only proposing, to this point, to use Quadlogic meters, so technology is not as yet an issue?

MR. SEAL:  That's my understanding.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And then you say that you have undertaken a sensitivity analysis, and you did that because, for the purposes of your base case in your evidence, the base case being the one that produced a revenue-to-cost ratio of 100.5 percent, you did not directly allocate the meter costs; correct?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.  In our base analysis, it uses the meter capital allocator page.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So then if we go to the sensitivity analysis, which is at page 7, at table 3, the third line of that table, "Directly-allocated meter costs," is that the sensitivity analysis where you have directly allocated the costs of the meters?

MR. SEAL:  The intent of all of the sensitivity analysis that we did was to assist the Board in determining the sensitivities of the model, the different ways, different assumptions that are included in the model.

So for -- in the case of the directly allocated meter cost sensitivity, what we did do was take the Quadlogic meter costs for those classes and removed it from the overall meter cost category and directly allocated those costs to the Quadlogic class.

That is all we did.  And as noted in our interrogatory response, there would be more to it in doing the actual direct allocation.  That was simply a sensitivity.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  But we're very sensitive to this issue, so let's just stay with it for a second.

As I understand, what you're trying to indicate is that if you directly allocate the meter costs, as opposed to use the normal allocators for this particular account, therefore you are allocating 100 percent of the costs of the meters to the Quadlogic class, and you are backing those costs out of the costs allocated to the other classes.

What you are doing is you're going to see a decrease in the revenue-to-cost ratio of about 5.6 percent; is that right?

MR. SEAL:  In this particular case.  But what we didn't do -- and I tried to explain this in the interrogatory response and also during the technical conference -- what we didn't do is make sure that the Quadlogic class wasn't getting any more meter costs through the meter allocator.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.

MR. SEAL:  So it was simply removing the costs and directly assigning those meter costs to the Quadlogic class, but not making any adjustment for other costs that should not be then incurred, meter-related costs that should not be incurred by the Quadlogic class.

MR. O'LEARY:  If you have only included the Quadlogic meter costs and no other numbers are allocated, how could you include any other numbers?

MR. SEAL:  But that's the issue; other numbers do get allocated.

We simply, in the sensitivity analysis, took the 550 times the 24,000 customers, and attributed that to the Quadlogic class.

The remaining meter costs are allocated according to the logic of the model.  And we did not make any adjustment to the Quadlogic class for the remainder of those meter costs.

MR. O'LEARY:  And what are the other meter costs that you can tell the Board are included, that you would have concern about?

MR. SEAL:  In this case, it is all the other meters that THESL has.  So in removing these costs from the overall meter cost category, you're still left with an amount in that cost category, that reflects all of the costs of all of the other meters of the company.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.

MR. SEAL:  That cost gets allocated according to the logic of the model, and the logic in the model didn't make any adjustment to the Quadlogic class for the removal of their own particular costs.

The proper way to do it would be, then, to remove all other meter costs from the Quadlogic class, so that they're not incurring any of those meter costs, because those meters aren't used by them.

MR. O'LEARY:  That was the discussion we had at the technical conference, and we raised that as a possibility and you said yes, it might work.  But then there was the concern about the wholesale meters, because as I understood it at that point, your belief was that there was an amount that should be allocated to the Quadlogic class for wholesale meters.  They should bear some of those upstream costs.  And that by doing what you just proposed, they wouldn't, but if I understand your evidence today, with your correction, it is no longer necessary to worry about those wholesale meter costs because they're included in another account; is that right?

MR. SEAL:  Yes.  So what we said in our interrogatory response was that we could remove the other meter costs.  One way to remove the other meter costs from the Quadlogic class is to, on the meter capital allocation page, make the allocation to the Quadlogic class of the overall meter costs zero.

So we would effectively put a zero number of customers in, so they wouldn't be allocated any meter costs.

And my concern at the technical conference and in the undertaking -- or the interrogatory response, excuse me, was that there were wholesale meter costs, which I did believe were properly to be allocated to all rate classes.  That was my understanding at the time.

As I indicated this morning, since then -- in looking at the detailed US of A accounts and the costs that go into the various US of A accounts -- I have determined that wholesale meter costs are, in fact, not in that meter cost category, and are captured in another cost category.

So my concern about the wholesale meter costs and them being allocated properly does disappear.

MR. O'LEARY:  And would you agree with me, Mr. Seal, that that is the only concern that you've raised to this date, other than your general concern now that there might be other costs, but that's the only specific concern you've raised about directly allocating those capital costs to the Quadlogic class?

MR. SEAL:  That was my concern with respect to meter capital costs, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  But for the record, you're not aware of any other specific cost which the Quadlogic class should be allocated, which will be avoided by directly allocating the meter costs?

MR. SEAL:  Well, I think my concerns about meter cost allocation, there are no other concerns I would have about the way meter costs were allocated.

I would make sure it was done properly.  So in addition to the capital costs, we need to make sure depreciation is allocated properly, or not allocated, as appropriate, and any other meter-related costs.

But the issue of not being able to separate the wholesale meter costs from the overall meter costs, that does -- that is no longer there.

MR. O'LEARY:  I presume you will answer that it is possible, to this question, that if the Board directs you to directly allocate the Quadlogic meter cost to the Quadlogic class, you will be able to do it and make all necessary adjustments to ensure that that class is allocated its fair share of any upstream expenses; fair?

MR. SEAL:  At this time, if the Board so directs us, I believe we can do that.

MR. O'LEARY:  Another cost driver that you raised in your evidence-in-chief -- and it is in your materials -- deals with meter-reading costs.

Just to put that in a little context, what we're talking about, as I understand it, is the reading of the meters, the compilation, and dealing with the data and the generation of the billing, which for the Quadlogic meters, I understand happens monthly?

MR. SEAL:  Yes -- well, the Quadlogic meters are billed monthly.

MR. O'LEARY:  And one of the differences that we noted from your supplementary evidence is that there had been an assumption earlier that Quadlogic meters were, in fact, only billed every other month like typical residential customers?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.  In the initial BDR work that was done, the meter reading allocation worksheet sheet within the cost allocation model, we had assumed that the Quadlogic meters were billed and, therefore, the costs in that particular allocation sheet reflected a bimonthly.

MR. O'LEARY:  And that is one of the justifications for using a higher weighting factor for the Quadlogic class, because it gets billed twice as often as the rest of the residential class; therefore, it is more costly to do that?

MR. SEAL:  If you're referring to the weighting factor, the 3.6, no, it is not related.

All it relates to is the way that the costs are weighted within the meter reading worksheet.

The actual weighting factor that gets applied for the Quadlogic class is determined based on the -- and always was based on the ratio of costs, monthly costs, or annual for that matter, of a residential meter versus -- or a typical residential meter versus a Quadlogic-type meter.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  I wasn't trying to compare, for the purposes of the 3.6 weighting factor, whether or not that specifically helped generate the 3.6.

All I simply wanted you to confirm was the fact that there are reasons behind why you would have a weighting factor greater than one for the Quadlogic meters, and one of reasons is because it is billed more often than your typical residential rate customer; right?  It is more costly to do?

MR. SEAL:  I am just not sure I can answer in the affirmative on that.

I mean, logically, it seems you're issuing more bills.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.

MR. SEAL:  But the degree to which or --


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Well, let's come to the degree.  Under the BDR study, as I understand it, you used for the meter reading costs a weighing factor of seven; is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  That was -- so the meter reading weighting factor, yes, of seven, relative to a residential customer of one.  All the weighting factors are relative to a residential customer.

MR. O'LEARY:  Fair enough.  And, in effect, what you're saying is that that was based upon your calculation or determination that the costs to do the meter reading functions, which are included in that account, were seven times more costly for the Quadlogic meters than for your typical smart meter on your standard single residence home; right?

MR. SEAL:  It was based on a monthly -- whether it was -- whether they were billed monthly or billed bimonthly, that seven was based on a monthly cost estimate.

MR. O'LEARY:  I am not asking for the specific steps.  At the end of the day, when you compare the two, if one is the cost for the meter reading functions relative to a typical smart meter, you were using seven, which means that the costs typical to the Quadlogic meters was seven times greater than that for the others?

MR. SEAL:  Just to be clear, it was actually pre-smart meters, so it was a typical residential dumb meter comparison.

But, yes, it was seven times more.

MR. O'LEARY:  And then what you have done is you, first of all, stated in the BDR study that it was your intention to take the meter reading function in-house.  So rather than use a third-party vendor, you were going to do the meter reading in-house.  Is that still your intentions?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And in the BDR study, you indicated you were going to do that at some point in the first half of 2012.  Then at the technical conference you said sometime around the end of the first quarter.

Do you have a more up-to-date estimate of when that is going to happen?  Is it Mr. Marchant I should ask that now?

MR. MARCHANT:  Correct.  You should ask me that.

In terms of where the project is now, yes, we're still on time line for April 1st transitioning in-house with the billing.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And am I to understand, then, that for the first three months, then, the costs for the meter reading functions will still be the same as they were in the BDR study, in that you're going to be using the third-party vendor to do the work?

MR. MARCHANT:  That's correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  So the appropriate weighting factor for at least the first three months would be seven?

MR. MARCHANT:  That's correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  I did at the technical conference ask you to take an undertaking, and the question was -- if I could turn you to tab 9, Mr. Marchant and Mr. Seal?  To simply paraphrase the undertaking and the response, we asked you to go back and do the math on what a three-month/nine-month split would be.  That would be -- for the first three months would be at seven, and the balance of the year at 3.6, and then a six and six.

And your answer came back at this undertaking JTC2.3 at tab 9 of our brief.  In the table at the bottom, correct me if I'm wrong, but I understand that the ratio or weighting factor you would use to reflect the first three months being costed at the old rate of seven or the weighting factor of seven would be 4.3?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So just to put it in context, your supplementary evidence used a weighting factor of 3.6 for the meter reading costs; correct?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So if the Board determined that at least for the first three months the old cost should continue, the correct weighting factor would be 4.3 and you would be required to go back and redo the model?

MR. SEAL:  It would make a difference in the model, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, all right.

If I could then flip you over to the very next tab, tab 10, one of the areas we also addressed during the technical conference were the costs to take this meter reading function in-house.

And in an earlier interrogatory response, you had indicated that the budget, the capital budget for this project, was 260,000.  Then you indicated there were some additional costs which you had identified, and we asked you to go back and advise what the current estimated costs are.

And you provided this undertaking response at JTC2.4, and you have indicated that the budget is now expected to come in at $100,000 higher, or $360,000.

Is that a fair interpretation?

MR. MARCHANT:  That's correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And, again, is it correct to say that your supplementary evidence, the one that you discussed in your evidence-in-chief, did not include this additional $100,000 in costs?  In other words, that was not included in the study at that point?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SEAL:  It would not be included in the overall costs.  Our study was based on our as-filed 2012 costs.  So if there were additional costs that have come to light since then, it would not have been included.

MR. O'LEARY:  So for the purposes of ultimately arriving at the tariff for 2012, it will be necessary for you to do a further run on the model, subject to whatever orders and directives that the Board may make, which includes at least this other $100,000; correct?

MR. SEAL:  Well, quite frankly, Mr. O'Leary, the -- if the Board so directs us to have a Quadlogic class and come up with a tariff for the Quadlogic customers in 2012, my expectation would be that the tariff would be based on our approved costs for 2012, our approved -- Board-approved costs, which will be determined as part of our 2012 cost of service filing, hopefully.

MR. O'LEARY:  That's another issue altogether, of course.

MR. SEAL:  So there will be a lot of costs, I suspect, that are different on a Board-approved basis, and they would all be reflected in the cost allocation study.  And I have no doubt that the tariff that would come out would be different than the one that we have put forward in our study today.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Thank you.

Mr. Marchant, are there any other costs that have recently been identified as being additional to the costs you have set out at this undertaking, both on a capital and O&M basis?


MR. MARCHANT:  I am not aware of any other costs.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  I hope you were the right person.  I didn't mean to take that away from Mr. Seal, but I am assuming you are the correct person to ask that?


MR. MARCHANT:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.

I am now going to turn to another area that you addressed as one of the cost drivers, and that is the secondary services adjustments that you have made.

And just so we understand and so that I understand what you have done is -- and what you are referring to by secondary services, you're saying that there are certain secondary circuits, which some of the members of the Quadlogic class do not use, and therefore you are proposing an adjustment to the model to reflect this; is that fair to say?


MR. SEAL:  That is a fair characterization.  In fact, few of the Quadlogic customers use it.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Now, if I could ask you to turn to page 14 of the BDR report, which is, again, at tab 2, you will see that -- just to give it some history, because we have been at this now for quite some time -- BDR, at subsection 4.6.3 under the heading "Secondary lines and related facilities," they state: 
"For the purposes of the November study..."

That's the November 2010 study; correct?


MR. SEAL:  The original BDR study.

MR. O'LEARY:  Correct, yes.

It says:

"...an estimated weighting factor of 30 percent was applied to the SMSC."

And I understand that to be the suite meter sub class; is that correct?


MR. SEAL:  That's correct.  Which at the time was defined as all suite meter customers, not just suite metered -- not just suite meter customers metered with Quadlogic technology.

MR. O'LEARY:  I understand.  So just for everybody's benefit, because we have been at it a little more than others, when the November study, November 2010 study was produced and that suite meter sub class was referenced, it is my recollection that what BDR was referring to was a universe of about 120,000 customers, of which about 9,149 customers were the Quadlogic-served customers?


MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So just for math, we're saying 120 is the world of multiple unit residential building smart meter customers, and the balance are -- of which, I should say, about 10,000 are the Quadlogic; fair?


MR. SEAL:  Fair.

MR. O'LEARY:  So what BDR did, based upon the information provided by Toronto Hydro at that time, was they reduced the weighting factor for the secondary lines and related facilities to 30 percent.

Does that mean they've reduced it by 70 percent?  Is that correct?


MR. SEAL:  Yes, that's correct.  They only allocated 30 percent of the secondary costs, of the total secondary costs to the suite meter class.


MR. O'LEARY:  So what the model would have normally generated would have been X; what BDR did is it reduced X by 70 percent?

MR. SEAL:  Or applied 30 percent.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.

MR. SEAL:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  So, then, for the purposes of this study in February, Toronto Hydro went back and looked at some of the buildings that were, in fact, served or would be using your suite meters, Quadlogic suite meters, and on the basis of that made a determination that, in fact, that number should only be 8 percent; is that right?


MR. SEAL:  Correct.  We didn't look at some.  We looked at all of the units, the buildings and suites that would be served by Quadlogic.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And what you have, in effect, done is you have reduced the allocation to the Quadlogic class for secondary lines and related facilities by 92 percent?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.


MS. TAYLOR:  If I may ask a clarifying question, did you look at all of the buildings for the 25,000, or all of the buildings for the nine?


MR. SEAL:  In this particular case, it was all of the buildings for the 9,000 customers, all the buildings related to 9,000 customers in 2009.  That is what BDR was looking at.

MS. TAYLOR:  In the February study?


MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MS. TAYLOR:  When you reduced it from 48, it was still only with respect to the 9,100?


MR. SEAL:  Yes.  48 buildings, I believe.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. O'LEARY:  Ms. Taylor, in fact, if you look at the second paragraph under that section, you will see that it indicates that there were 48 complexes.

MS. TAYLOR:  Mm-hmm.  I just wanted to make sure.

MR. O'LEARY:  And I think the number is 90 -- you know, 9,000 or so were the suite meters, and it was 110,000, which were the balance.

So what, in effect, you are saying is that the 92 percent of the Quadlogic-served buildings are not served by any secondary circuits, but they are served by a primary circuit; correct?

MR. SEAL:  No.


MR. O'LEARY:  They have to be served somehow.


MR. SEAL:  Correct.  And my objection is just to "buildings" because as we have indicated in our interrogatory responses, the 8 percent is based on customers served, not buildings served but customers served, because the allocator for secondary costs is customers.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.


MR. SEAL:  So while in concept they're similar, but the actual numbers are based on number of customers served.


MR. O'LEARY:  I wasn't trying to get into the allocator.  I was just asking from a factual basis, that if you have looked at these complexes -- and that's what the evidence says; you identified residential complexes.  You don't say you have identified residential customers.


So you have looked at the buildings and you have said 92 percent of them are not served by secondary circuits.  Therefore, we're going to adjust the model by 92 percent.  That's what you've done?


MR. SEAL:  Well, I will take you to that piece of evidence, Mr. O'Leary.  And it says, specifically, "On this detailed and specific basis, it was determined that 8 percent of the suites are served by secondary facilities."

So in fact, it was quite clear that it was suites.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  I am sure we're talking about semantics, but I am still at the BDR study.  At paragraph 2, which I just took Ms. Taylor to, it talks about residential complexes, but my point is simply this, that if a building is not connected by secondary, it has to be connected somehow.  And for a large building that has 200, 500 suites, you will agree with me that the load is going to be fairly significant; it's going to be a primary feed to that building; correct?


MR. SEAL:  Yes, correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And that was really all I was I trying to get with that.

But is it fair to say -- and we'll have a look at the breakdown in a second, but is it fair to say that with the older, smaller buildings, that you tend to find it to be more common than only 8 percent, that they are, in fact, connected by secondary circuits?


MR. SEAL:  I think –- again, in generalities -- that is true.  A smaller building is more likely to be on a secondary service than a larger building would be.

MR. O'LEARY:  And the smaller buildings that are out there tend to be the ones that are currently not being served by either suite meters that are the smart meter type or the Quadlogic type.  They tend to be the older apartment buildings that are ripe for conversion?

MR. MARCHANT:  Sorry, can you just restate the question?


MR. O'LEARY:  That of the portfolio of outstanding buildings that currently are bulk metered that are potentially candidates for conversion, that the smaller, older ones tend to be more commonly connected by secondary circuits?

MR. MARCHANT:  I think it is really -- I mean, it is really a function of size and design at the time.  Because generally in a building, you would have a primary service, if you're trying to run a chiller or something like that, which a lot of the older buildings wouldn't have.

So to that extent, I would agree with that.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  So with the changes in the Residential Tenancy Act, with the -- ultimately the saturation of the existing bulk metered condominium market, as it has been fully or will be fully suite metered, the only available candidates or the remaining available candidates will be the bulk metered apartment buildings.

You would agree with me, then, that there is going to be likely an increase in the incidence of these buildings being served by secondary circuits?  Isn't that just a fair, factual assessment?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. McLORG:  Mr. O'Leary, the panel is at a bit of a loss to give you a firm answer on that, because our understanding of the situation you're referring to is one where you're talking about buildings that are presently bulk metered, and they might be buildings that are smaller than the big glass condos that are going up in downtown Toronto.

But we see them right now as general service customers, if they're bulk metered.  And it would just be pure speculation on our part right now to tell you whether those are generally served on secondary or generally served on primary, or what the ratios might be.

We haven't looked at those buildings as part of the suite meter studies at all, because they were never unit metered.

So those buildings that might now be converted and are presently served by bulk meters could be, you know, a large apartment building that would be served on primary.

But, in essence, I'm saying we don't have that information for you.

MR. O'LEARY:  And I wasn't looking for a statistical survey.  I was asking you to exercise some professional judgment and common sense here.

And, Mr. Marchant, does your department not entertain calls from two- and three- and four-storey apartment buildings that are interested in having their buildings suite metered?

MR. MARCHANT:  In terms of the bulk of our customers, as I stated, it is predominantly new buildings.

We only have the occasional retrofit condos, and we haven't done a whole lot of rental work, so I can't extrapolate from a small sample to generalize.

MR. O'LEARY:  But you are familiar with the stock of buildings in Toronto, are you not?

MR. MARCHANT:  I mean, I'm familiar with some buildings.

MR. O'LEARY:  But would you agree with me that lower-rise apartment buildings tend to be served by secondary circuits?

MR. MARCHANT:  A lot of the older lower-rise buildings we're referring to are part of that 110,000 that were metered by Toronto Hydro.

MR. O'LEARY:  But those that are not would still be served by secondary circuits and, therefore, would be candidates for suite metering at some point in the future; correct?

MR. MARCHANT:  I would say, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.

MR. SEAL:  Mr. O'Leary, if it is helpful, what we can speak to are some numbers that we do have in evidence.  So I will turn you to response to the technical conference undertaking JTC2.1.  So in that question, we were asked to provide the number of suites that are associated with --


MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm sorry.  If you could let Mr. O'Leary turn it up?

MR. SEAL:  Sorry, Mr. Chair.

MR. RODGER:  What was that, JTC2.1?

MR. SEAL:  JTC2.1.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.

MR. SEAL:  So we were asked to provide information on the 2009 and 2012 number of suites we expect to be served by primary and secondary.

So looking specifically at 2012, which is the year in question and the year all our numbers are based on, we show there that the expectation is that there's 23,188 served by primary, 1,710 served by secondary.

So there we do have a specific breakdown that we forecast for 2012.  So rather than get into generalities, there are some specifics that we can talk to.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you for that, Mr. Seal.  All my point was - and I assume the answer to is fairly obvious - is that there are members of this proposed Quadlogic class that use and rely upon secondary circuits to receive power from Toronto Hydro; right?

MR. SEAL:  So, again, I will turn to that answer, and it shows you that 6.9 percent of those suites are served by secondary, our expectation in 2012.

MR. O'LEARY:  Sure.  That is your expectation in 2012, but it still means there is at least 1,700 customers in that Quadlogic class which rely on secondary circuits; correct?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Let me ask you what the impact of that is, first of all.

By you removing 92 percent of the secondary costs for this proposed Quadlogic class, does that then get spread out amongst all of the other rate classes?  Those costs have to go somewhere; right?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.  The cost for secondary is a fixed number.  So the allocator that we're using -- if you reduce one of those allocators for one class, then the other classes will get more.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  You have taken away certain costs that would have been included in the Quadlogic numbers, and you have spread them to other rate classes.  Would that include the residential rate class?  Would they receive an increase, in terms of their allocations, as a result of this manual adjustment?

MR. SEAL:  All classes would.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  But would the residential also receive some?

MR. SEAL:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.

MR. SEAL:  Sorry, you characterize it as a manual adjustment.

It is a proper adjustment to make for the allocation of these particular costs.  It's not an arbitrary thing that we did.  It is the way to reflect the costs that are to -- incurred by that customer class.

MR. O'LEARY:  I understand your position on that, and we may have a different view on that, but just let me explore the impact of it a little further.

We started off this line of questioning talking about the suite metered sub-class that BDR created in November 2010 of 120,000 units.

At that point you said 30 percent -- and that included all of the smart meters, I might remind you, Mr. Seal.  Thirty percent were only served by secondary.

My question simply is this.  You have now taken 92 percent of the secondary costs that the model would have allocated to the Quadlogic class.  You have now added some of that to the residential class, of which that residential class appears to also be receiving secondary costs, which it did not generate.

In other words, if the SMSC, the suite meter class of 120,000, only 30 percent or perhaps only 8 percent are connected by secondary circuits, then there is an overallocation to that residential class already and you are lumping more onto that class by taking the 92 percent from the Quadlogic class.  Isn't that the impact of what you are proposing?

MR. SEAL:  I am not following your logic, Mr. O'Leary.

If we -- the logic of the cost allocation model is to allocate those costs to the correct classes, the classes that incur those costs.

So my starting point really is:  What is the correct way to allocate these costs?

So what I am saying is that the correct way to allocate costs to all class is based on the number of customers that receive secondary service.  So what I've done is try to reflect that number for the Quadlogic class and all classes.

So it is not overallocating to that class.  It is allocating the proper amounts to each class based on those customers that are served by secondary.

MR. O'LEARY:  What I'm simply saying, Mr. Seal, is that if your figures, your estimates are correct, and that the customers that live in multiple unit residential buildings are only connected to the system 8 percent of the time by secondary circuits, that the current cost allocation model isn't necessarily appropriate for the residential rate class, in the same way that it is not appropriate for the Quadlogic class.

It has been over-allocated those secondary costs, and what you're doing is you're moving them from one class, the Quadlogic class, and adding them to the residential class, and only increasing the burden on them.  And they didn't generate those costs.


I hear you want to take a swing at me.  Or is that the question?


MR. McLORG:  Oh, certainly the question, Mr. O'Leary.

Maybe I could start back at the beginning and say that in order to be in the residential class at all, a MURB building would have to be either a six-plex or less, or be a suite metered building by Toronto Hydro.


So when we look at the original residential class, it wouldn't have included the large walk-up buildings and so on that might now be candidates for conversion.  But only the small six-plexes.

And if you then take that class and subdivide it into two sub classes, I think our point is only that there is no over-allocation of cost to any of those classes.  It is simply a matter that the -- on average, to begin with, the class was allocated all the costs that were attracted by it.

And if you then subdivide that class into two distinct classes, which have different attributes as far as attracting or being served by secondary circuits, then clearly, you know, the residual class, after you make the separation, will have a higher proportion of being served by secondary circuits.

So there is no over-allocation involved.  And there is no increase in any of the costs in total.


MR. O'LEARY:  There is no increase in the costs, but you have definitely moved some of the costs to the residential class, and if the percentage of those buildings in the residential class, excluding the Quadlogic, if the same percentage applies, that only 8 percent are served by secondary, you then added the costs -- you have taken away from the Quadlogic to the residential class?

You can't dispute that, can you, Mr. McLorg?


MR. McLORG:  Well, if I understand your proposition correctly, I think that you and I are agreeing, because the costs for the total original class remain the same.  There's been no increase in costs there.

And if you then subdivide the class into two sub categories, one of which attracts less of that cost, then the residual class has to attract more.  I think that that is very straightforward.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, if you make the move, it does.

My point is they're both residential classes.  They both have the same ratio of buildings which are served by primary and secondary.

Why are you treating the residential any different than the Quadlogic?

MR. McLORG:  No.  I can't quite agree with what you just said about they have the same ratio.  They wouldn't, by definition.

MR. O'LEARY:  Your own evidence said 30 percent -- you reduced it for the whole suite metered class of 120,000 customers to 30 percent, so at least 70 percent are not served by secondary.

So I'm simply putting to you the fact that you're treating the residential class different than the Quadlogic class by making this adjustment; do you accept that?


MR. McLORG:  No, I can't, because if I understand what you just said, you said that 70 percent of the residential class is not served by secondary, which is clearly not true.


MR. O'LEARY:  I meant to say -- if I did say that, then I misspoke myself -- the suite metered sub class, which is the 120,000 customers.


And those buildings are, by your own evidence, subject to the same -- 30 or 8 percent are not served by secondary circuits.

So what I'm saying is you are treating that class differently, because you're taking the costs from the residential –- sorry, from the Quadlogic class, and moving it into the residential.

So they're paying more, when their configuration for those buildings in terms of their connections is the same.

MR. McLORG:  Well, I think exactly the same logic applies, Mr. O'Leary, in the sense that if you're now talking about a further subdivision of the MURB class into Quadlogic customers and non-Quadlogic customers, exactly the same mechanics would apply.

If you move costs out of one subcategory, then they get absorbed by the other.


MR. O'LEARY:  All I'm trying to say is that there are ramifications, and, you know, our position will be that it shouldn't be done.

But let me move on.


Mr. Seal, in reviewing your evidence, I noticed that, well, you considered a number of cost drivers.  There doesn't appear to be any consideration being given to whether or not there should be any adjustments made for the fact that these 92 percent of the Quadlogic customers or buildings are connected by a primary feed.  There doesn't appear to be any thought given to whether or not there should be some additional costs added to the Quadlogic class for that fact; would you agree?


MR. SEAL:  There would be no reason for it.

The primary costs are a cost in our cost allocation model, and are allocated to all customers, in fact.


And we have not adjusted the number of suite meter customers to 8 percent for primary.  It is all customers, on a customer-by-customer basis, get primary allocated to them.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well --


MR. SEAL:  That's the logic of the model.

MR. O'LEARY:  I understand.

MR. SEAL:  There is no reason for there to be more costs for a suite meter customer.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, let's just explore that a little further.

If I could turn you to tab 5 of our brief, Mr. Seal, which is your interrogatory response to Board Staff No. 1, and there are two tables.  There's an answer to one -- answer to -- I believe the photocopying has been put backwards, so it's gone pages 1, 3, 2.

What I want you to turn to is the second page, which is page 3.  That is your breakdown for the 24,898 suite meters in 2012.

Do you have that table?


MR. SEAL:  Yes, I do.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And you will recall we discussed this during the technical conference, but down the left-hand column, you have the different load categories.  And of the buildings that are identified there, only one falls into the under-50 kVA category?


MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  Correct?  So that means that -- correct me if I'm wrong, but I interpret that to mean that the vast majority of the buildings that are ultimately going to be -- have customers which are part of the Quadlogic class, all fall in the GS greater-than-50 kW rate classes?


MR. SEAL:  Specifically, I would say they fall in the GS 50-to-1,000 class.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  Some of them, though, you will agree, even exceed 1,000?


MR. SEAL:  I am not sure.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  But they are a GS greater-than-50 rate class, so 50-to-999, and maybe over that.


And indeed, if we look at this table, we see the last line is greater-than-500 kVA.  That's a fairly significant load.  You're looking at about 400 kW?


MR. SEAL:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So that, as we can see, the 48 buildings there, all 48 are primary-fed buildings; correct?


MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  And none of them are the subject of secondary circuits.


If I could then turn you to -- well, let me ask the first couple of questions.


So let's assume that one of those buildings that you are going to connect in 2012 is an existing apartment building.  It's currently a GS 50-to-999 customer; correct?


MR. SEAL:  That's your assumption.


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  Let's assume that it is.

MR. SEAL:  Okay.

MR. O'LEARY:  I'm assuming the 500 kVA is going to fall into that rate class.


So it is being billed and allocated under the model in the 50-to-999 rate class.


MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  When you convert it, some of the building will remain common elements, and it will likely remain a GS greater-than-50 rate class as well; correct?


MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  And then the balance will be Quadlogic or suite meter customers of Toronto Hydro; correct?


MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And would you agree with me, then, that the GS 50-to-999 is still going to attract the same costs that are allocated to it under the model, after the conversion, as it did before?


MR. SEAL:  Well, specifically you're talking primary costs?


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.

MR. SEAL:  Okay.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, I'm going to come to that, but I'm assuming -–

MR. SEAL:  Then, no, I would say no.  All costs, it might not attract -- it would be allocated all the same costs.

The cost allocation model has a number of different allocators in it, that are used to allocate various costs.

So by virtue of that bulk meter now having a lower load on it, still within the same class, might impact how certain costs that get allocated based on load get attributed.  So not all -- the allocation of costs would not be exactly the same.

MR. O'LEARY:  I understand that.  And in terms of condominiums, you know, new or converted, similarly there is a common element portion of each condominium, which is a GS-greater-than-50 kW class in each instance; right?

MR. SEAL:  Sure.

MR. O'LEARY:  And it's billed based upon what the allocator -- sorry, what the cost allocation model generates for that particular rate class?

MR. SEAL:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And if I could then turn you to tab 1C, and this is table I-9.  It is the direct allocation worksheet from your cost allocation study.

Mr. Chair, we've included the "filed November 4th, 2011" in the top right, and that is simply to reflect that, I believe, this is the update that came in after there was a correction made to the study.

But I'm not sure that it changed any of the numbers that I am going to take you to.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So the date of August 26th, 2011 was the original file date?

MR. O'LEARY:  I believe that is the original date of the study, which was filed in September, but it was updated because there was a correction that we don't want to trouble you with, but --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Seal, as I understand it, this is the worksheet which identifies the direct allocations to the various rate classes?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct, the dollars that are allocated for the various accounts.

MR. O'LEARY:  So if we look at -- down the left-hand column, if we can just stay on page 1, although just -- I don't want to walk you through every one of them, by any means, but you will see that there are a number of accounts that there have been direct allocations to on each of the three pages.

The first two are accounts 1840 and 1845, but, you know, there are several on the next page, without going to them, underground distribution lines, feeders, operation, labour, maintenance.

Let's just stay with the first page, which is the underground conduit.  And I see that the direct allocations are all made to the general service classes; correct?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct, based on our following the Board's guidelines on direct allocation.

MR. O'LEARY:  Fair enough.  I'm not disputing that these allocations are inappropriate.  I am just trying to acknowledge that they happened.

MR. SEAL:  I'm just explaining how they're done.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  They're done properly.

And in my scenario where you've got an apartment building which currently exists in 2011 and it's currently being billed under the GS 50-to-999 rate class, that rate class is attracting $3 million in direct allocations for account 1840 and another million-two for account 1841.

And these appear to relate to primary services, do they not?

MR. SEAL:  Yes, they were.  The direct allocation that we did -- that we've done every year that we've filed a cost allocation model has been related to specific feeders that we could identify as being supplying one customer class and one customer class only.

MR. O'LEARY:  I understand.  So one of those customers under the GS 50-to-999 is the apartment building which is currently bulk metered, and it is now -- the amounts allocated to it include some of these direct allocations; correct?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So then you convert the building, and we now have half the building which is common elements, and it still is in the GS 50-to-999.  It's going to continue to be allocated some of these direct allocations, is it not?

MR. SEAL:  Yes, it would, currently.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Whereas the other half of the building, which is the Quadlogic suite meters of yours, are now the Quadlogic class.  And pursuant to your direct allocation worksheet, you're not proposing to allocate anything to them.  Yet they're relying on the same feeder, the same services.

Wouldn't it be appropriate to ask the Board to amend the direct allocation methodology to say that, in this instance, the Quadlogic class should share its -- should share in those amounts that are directly allocated to the other half of the building?

MR. SEAL:  I'm actually going to back up to my previous answer, because, in this particular filing and these particular numbers, we haven't actually looked - and we answered this in one of the interrogatories - at specifically whether a particular customer in 2012, who is going to be a Quadlogic-served customer now, is included in one of these classes.

These were based on our estimates at the time of how much was specifically feeding a single customer class.

To the extent that in 2012 if a particular building does get converted and we determined that that feeder that we previously -- if that feeder was to that building and was previously included in here, what we would do now is say that can't be directly allocated anymore, because now that feeder is serving two separate classes.

But we haven't done that analysis, admittedly, in this particular component.

But, again, that is -- that's if a particular feeder that we identified of that $3 million was serving one of those types of customers.  And, as you know, the GS 50-to-999 class has a lot of customers and they're not just MURB customers.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, I understand, and I anticipated that would be your answer, because that was more or less what you said on the technical conference.

So just so we're clear, what you're saying is that if there is a conversion and you determine that there was an amount that was included in the direct allocations from the building that was converted, you would remove it, because you think it would be improper under the cost-allocation methodology because that building would now have two rate classes; right?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  And all I was asking was, if it was appropriate -- and I'm suggesting you did it appropriately before -- if it was appropriate to directly allocate certain costs to that building before, why not suggest a change to the methodology such that, in the case of the Quadlogic class, you would simply allocate its share of those directly-allocated costs?

MR. McLORG:  I think, Mr. O'Leary, that goes well beyond what we were charged by the Board to do here, because the basis of definition of the suite meter class was -- or the Quadlogic class was simply whether or not it used the Quadlogic meters.

If you are now suggesting that we should undertake a course of tracing costs to individual buildings, then I think that that undermines the concept of class ratemaking as it has been practiced by the Board historically, because we don't do that.

We certainly don't do that in the general residential customer case.  We don't have different rates for customers that are served by underground equipment versus overhead equipment, and so on.

So I think that that goes well beyond what Toronto Hydro was asked to do in this.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. O'Leary, could I just -- I want to get some clarification just to benefit my own understanding here, and either Mr. McLorg or Mr. Seal.

To the extent that you have identified feeders now that are going to the direct allocation to this class of customer, the one we have in front of us here now, GS-50-to 1,000, if they come off that list, as has been suggested -- if you're looking forward and you have a conversion and they come off that list, then how do those costs get allocated?  Where do they go from there?

MR. SEAL:  In that case, Mr. Chairman, they would be removed from the direct allocation, and those costs would flow back into the overall bucket of costs that gets allocated according to the logic of the model.

So in the case of primary, it is allocated by customer numbers, by class.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MS. TAYLOR:  Can I ask one additional question?  Again, we're talking solely about Quadlogic, but if you take a building and you convert it to suite meters, just your standard suite meter, smart, you're going to have the same problem, are you not, the same issue; whereas the bulk meter attracted a certain amount of primary costs, call it ten dollars.  If half the building goes to suite meters -- each unit is suite metered, you're now only charging the bulk meter five dollars' worth of that primary cost, and you're taking the other five dollars and reallocating it back over the rate class, is that correct, even for suite meters, not Quadlogic?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SEAL:  So I believe the answer to your question, Ms. Taylor, is yes, it would be a similar type of treatment.


And again, if there was a direct allocation and now that customer is split into two classes, that direct allocation would be removed properly.

MS. TAYLOR:  Just to be clear, that the $5 that would have been paid by the customers in the -- so that now they're suite metered, it goes back to the bulk meter sub class?

So in other words, if it was 100 percent to the GS 50-to-999 before, now only 50 cents on the dollar for that group, the remaining costs that has now to be recovered, is now sitting out there, would then be reallocated to the GS 50-to-999 class; is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.  Based on the allocator in the model.

MS. TAYLOR:  Right.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just to get my head wrapped around this, the mechanics of it is, when you have direct costs, as described here, and through a conversion you have two different classes of customer, in effect it may be a five/five split, but the mechanics of it is that all costs get backed out, put in a different bucket and split across all customers, based on a customer account?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.  It entirely gets removed from the direct allocation to that class, and then gets allocated the way all other primary costs get allocated.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I haven't put my mind to whether or not that is a distinction without a difference or not, but that is the mechanics of it, just so I am clear?

MR. SEAL:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Seal, if I could just follow up on that, has Toronto Hydro, in fact, been doing that?  When you either smart meter a building or suite meter a building, have you been going back and looking at the direct allocations and determining whether or not some should be backed out, because now the building is going to be two rate classes?


MR. SEAL:  My understanding, in previous files, we have, yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And just to finish on this particular point, it is our position that -- really, one of two things, that in terms of the secondary and primary, is that, in effect, the rate class where the residential or Quadlogic residential classes, members of the class are both relying on primary and secondary.

And given the concept of pooled costs, why do you say the Quadlogic group should be treated any differently?


MR. SEAL:  I am not sure I completely understand what you're saying, Mr. O'Leary.

I mean, my understanding is the purpose of this hearing, this part of the hearing, is to determine whether the Quadlogic class should be treated differently, or how they should be treated within the cost allocation model to develop a tariff.  That is my understanding.


MR. O'LEARY:  But if it's a standard tenet of cost-allocation methodology that certain costs, which are used by members of the particular class -- some use some more, some use some less -- you are proposing a treatment for the Quadlogic class which is different than what you are proposing to the residential rate class.

So I am asking:  How do you justify that, given that basic tenet of cost-allocation methodology?


MR. SEAL:  Well, I am not clear I am treating them differently.  As I've said, what we've done is tried to reflect the proper allocation of these costs by adjusting the customer numbers for the Quadlogic class.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.


MR. McLORG:  The proposition that there should be a separate Quadlogic class, Mr. O'Leary, necessarily means that you're going to have, instead of one pool, two pools.


And I think that our position is that we've tried to put into effect exactly the same cost-allocation principles for those, now, two pools as would have applied to the one pool to begin with.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, I don't know if you were thinking of taking a morning break, or...

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, we are, if this is a good time, Mr. O'Leary.

MR. O'LEARY:  It's a good time, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.  We will.  We will return at 25 after 11:00.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 11:11 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:37 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Please be seated.

Mr. O'Leary, just before we start, we just have a further clarification that we would like to have on the record before we start out.  It was just the exchange we had earlier about the cost allocation and the ramifications of having a conversion from a bulk meter to a multi-unit metering, irrespective of whether it is Quadlogic or suite.

Ms. Taylor just wanted to get some further clarification on that.

MS. TAYLOR:  If we come back to the example where we have a customer who is in the GS 50-to-999 class, and let's pretend that they get allocated $100 of the primary cost, and then the building either goes into suite meter or Quadlogic configuration with the bulk.

And I want to confirm that the $100 then comes out entirely of the GS 50-to-999, and then gets reallocated to all customer classes; is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  Including the GS 50-to-999.

MS. TAYLOR:  That would include residential.  It would include all of the other rate classes.  So, in other words, $100 goes back into the total primary pool cost -- pool cost or cost pool, and then gets reallocated across all customer classes based on the number of customers in each class; is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. SEAL:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thanks.  Mr. O'Leary.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  If I can move on to a couple of final areas, I shouldn't be too much longer, but there was one undertaking answer that I did want to raise for the panel quickly.

If I could turn you to tab 11 of the Exhibit 3.2, and this is the undertaking response JTC2.7.  And in the description of it, Toronto Hydro was asked to rerun the cost allocation model with a consumption estimate of 334, and that's the actual number taken out of their supplementary evidence.

The weighting factors used in JCT2.3 -- and you will recall, when I took you it that, if you just flip back two tabs, that is the different weighting factors for meter reading, and we talked about doing it on a three-month/nine-month basis.  And if you do so, the weighting factor would be 4.3, or if you did it on a six-month basis, it is five.

And the third thing they did for this rerun is they allocated directly the Quadlogic meter cost.

And, Mr. Seal, I just wanted to confirm that as a result of you doing those things, the results that you generated are a revenue-to-cost ratio of the 93.9 percent in the three-month/nine-month scenario?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  And 92.6 in the six-month/six-month scenario?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And those are the revenue-to-cost ratios that are generated leaving the secondary costs at the adjustment down to 8 percent; right?

MR. SEAL:  That's right.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  Moving on now, if I could turn you, again, to tab 1 at page 5 under the heading "Marketing Expenses".  This is another cost driver that you spoke about briefly this morning, Mr. Seal.

And in that first paragraph, you say that in the updated BDR study - that's the February study - there was an amount that was included, and it was allocated to the Quadlogic class, of $90,000.  And then you say, in 2012, there are no marketing dollars included in the budget for suite meter activity.

So what I take it you have done is, for the purposes of your updated evidence, you have not directly allocated any marketing expenses to the Quadlogic class?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Whereas if we flip over to the BDR study, which is at tab 2, and I flip you to page...

MR. SEAL:  Perhaps page 11, Mr. O'Leary?

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  For some reason, I can't seem to find it.

Well, right now, I am not able to put my finger on it, so I must have highlighted it in a different copy.  My point is my understanding was, in the BDR February study, it was BDR's belief that it was appropriate to include the $90,000 as a direct allocation because of the various work and marketing that was done for, and related to, your suite metering program.  Is that a fair characterization?

MR. SEAL:  I believe that's what BDR concluded.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And you were asked an interrogatory by VECC, number 55, in the second round -- and a copy of that appears at tab 3 of the brief.  You were asked to describe the types of administrative and marketing activities that are directly incurred for suite metering, and you went on to include the following list.

I take it these are the activities which ultimately led BDR to conclude that you should directly allocate these marketing costs to the Quadlogic class; correct?

MR. SEAL:  I'm not sure that these were the studies that concluded them to directly allocate.

They determined that there was an amount for marketing that was -- would probably -- properly be allocated to the Quadlogic class at the time for the 2009 data.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  But what I'm saying is, in the response here, there is five bullets.  There are activities identified which, at least in part, led to BDR recommending the $90,000 be directly allocated to the Quadlogic class?

MR. SEAL:  They were likely behind the number, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And so what I would like to know, because you're no longer directly allocating, is, in effect, what has changed.  Are you no longer using an external provider to develop and produce sell sheets, case studies, website updates, et cetera?

MR. MARCHANT:  So the marketing dollars they're referring to in 2009 and the preceding years before that, I mean, we spent quite a bit of money developing the business and developing marketing materials, collateral and that, as we were trying to find our market.

As I explained in the -- at the technical conference, right now, predominantly we sell to new construction.  So it is more of a -- it's a direct sales approach, rather than a wide marketing.  It is really -- once you're established in the market, it's really no secret who the suite meterers are at this point.

MR. O'LEARY:  By direct sales, are you doing it or is an outside vendor doing it, or both?

MR. MARCHANT:  The sales are -- I mean, we do get call-in, which we direct to our vendor.  So our sales are driven through our vendor.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So those sort of activities are continuing?

MR. MARCHANT:  Under the new RFP, yes, they would continue.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  The second bullet, "membership and trade organizations", have you resigned?

MR. MARCHANT:  I mean, there are some corporate memberships that we belong to, but, in effect, I haven't seen anything or signed for any memberships this year.

MR. O'LEARY:  But has there been a change to the trade organizations that you're a member of since this interrogatory response was prepared?

MR. MARCHANT:  Well, I would think at a corporate level, we're still in -- or at a THESL level, we're still in the same organizations, but specifically for suite metering, I would say I can't think of any that we are.  So...

MR. O'LEARY:  Booths at trade shows?

MR. MARCHANT:  We had quite a presence at trade shows in the past years.  Things like PM Expo, we had a whole suite metering set up, and we aren't planning to do that in 2012.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Online access to industry websites?

MR. MARCHANT:  That was for developing industry research, which, given the market niche we're in now, we haven't been pursuing that, no.

MR. O'LEARY:  And then banners, small giveaways at trade functions, you're not doing that any longer.  Is that what you're telling us?

MR. MARCHANT:  I mean, we still have some giveaway stuff left over from previous years in marketing, but we aren't actively giving away stuff, if that is your question.


MR. O'LEARY:  But you will be giving away stuff?


MR. MARCHANT:  I mean, as I said before, it's a direct sale.  So when you go into a developer that's building a new building, it is unlikely a coffee mug is going to sway him.


MR. O'LEARY:  It depends on whether it has the name of our firm on it.  That might be the --


MR. MARCHANT:  Well, we could resell them to you.

[Laughter]


MR. O'LEARY:  The response or the quote I was looking for is actually at the next tab of our material, page 4.


And in that, it is an interrogatory response to the SSMWG No. 6.  You were asked at question (b) whether there was any increase in the allocations to Quadlogic customers relative to others.

And your answer was, if you flip over to the next page, in addition to the allocations referred to earlier in the response, there was a 90,000 direct assignment to Quadlogic customers, representing the full amount of suite metering marketing expenses incurred in 2009.

You skip down to the -- about halfway down, it reads:

"The appropriateness of this treatment was considered in light of the fact that THESL's website includes information potentially of interest to any individually metered suite, and to the boards of condominium buildings that are currently individually metered, that is to say now part of the general service class.
However, BDR concluded..."

I take it "however" -- am I to understand that BDR disagreed with what you were doing before, or what you were proposing, Mr. Marchant?


MR. SEAL:  I would not interpret it like that at all.

MR. O'LEARY:  "...BDR concluded that direct

assignment of the full amount of 2009 costs represented a conservative scenario in view of the objective of the study, which was to enable the Board to consider whether the Quadlogic customers received an undue subsidy from other residential customers."

So I read that to mean BDR said:  THESL, the right thing to do here is to directly allocate these marketing costs; is that a fair interpretation?

MR. SEAL:  Yes.  That is, I believe.


MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  Then if I flip you over to tab 12 -- just before we mark this exhibit, I did say there was a portion of it which was only partially reproduced or reflective of your evidence.


This, in fact, is a screen print that I undertook the other day, and much of it does appear in one of your answers to an interrogatory that we asked some time ago, when we asked for copies of all posters, brochures and other advertisements.

But this is, as of December 1st, you will see at the bottom, December 1st, 2011, what appears in your website in respect of suite metering.

I will confess to being the person that has put in the arrows and the circles there.

But if I could just briefly walk you through it, if you go to the -- the first page is the home page, and you click on the suite meters link and you get to the second page.  And you will see that there are, on the right side, links for builders and condo boards.

If you go to the third page, then there is a "questions or comments" and it says:
"If you would like to know more about suite metering, please contact Mario [sic] D'orazio."

Is he at Toronto Hydro?


MR. MARCHANT:  Actually, it's a she and she is a customer service rep, so she works on billing and those sorts of functions.

MR. O'LEARY:  I apologize.  I see it is Maria, not Mario.  So there is someone on staff that is available to entertain inquiries about suite metering?


MR. MARCHANT:  We get inquiries.  And as I stated before, we pass those on to our salesperson, which is part of our third-party vendor services.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  But somebody does receive the initial call, I take it?


MR. MARCHANT:  Yes.  I mean, we do occasionally get calls in, as we stated in the evidence.  But it is really almost all of our sales are direct, face-to-face sales with developers.


MR. O'LEARY:  If you go to the second page from the last, this is one of the other case studies -- if I can call it -- which appear on your website, which is intended to entice either a developer or a condo board.

At the bottom, I have circled:
"For more information, contact Leo Guidolin."

Is he with Toronto Hydro?


MR. MARCHANT:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And going from the beginning, one, two, three... the eighth page in, it's a picture of a woman putting some laundry in the washing machine, with the Toronto Hydro logo on the lower right.

I see at the lower left, it says:  "Your logo here."  Is the intent that a condo board or a property management company would come forward and you would take their logo and put it there, and they would use that, then, to advertise, to support the suite metering of the condo?


MR. MARCHANT:  Back when these web pages were developed, that was the intent.  But checking with my staff in the last four years, we've only actually supplied one set of materials to a condo board.


MR. O'LEARY:  But it is still something that is available and part of your marketing, if requested?


MR. MARCHANT:  Well, we have a -- as I mentioned, we have a fair bit of surplus material, including some of these things, so it was paid out of 2008 or '09 budgets.


MR. O'LEARY:  And in terms of the third-party vendor costs, did I understand you correctly a few moments ago?  You said that one of the elements that the third-party vendor will be asked to undertake will be some of these marketing costs?

MR. MARCHANT:  Well, much like -- so in our existing RFP, the sales function is provided by our vendor.  And going into the future, they will provide that sales function, as well as some marketing costs, similar to what they've done in the past.

MR. O'LEARY:  Can you give us an update on that RFP process?


MR. MARCHANT:  So that RFP was released on December 2nd and it closes on January 6th.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And just for the benefit of the Board, what we're talking about here is that your current Quadlogic suite metering third-party vendor, that I presume the contract is nearing an end, and you have issued an RFP to consider the use of another vendor for those services?


MR. MARCHANT:  That's correct.  So the original contract would have lapsed at the end of this year, but it's been extended to March 31st.


MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  Thank you.

Turning next --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. O'Leary, just before you leave that area, Ms. Taylor has a question that -- she would like some more clarity around the sales function.

MS. TAYLOR:  It comes back to the third-party vendor costs.  Where exactly do they appear?  Are they being averaged into the cost per meter at $550?  So is that a bundled cost for the price of the meter and all of the sales and services and support?


MR. MARCHANT:  That's correct.  So they provide a unit cost in the original RFP.  So that includes the sales function, as well.

MS. TAYLOR:  So there is no other costs that you will have to pay above the per-meter cost.  And is the 550, how much variability is that?  And so now we're starting to get into the terms of the existing agreement.  How firm is that number?  And do you have options to increase or reduce your activity level?  And is there any sort of sliding scale for activity levels, based on -- this is a very -- I guess, it comes down to how valid is that $550, if this is a fully bundled cost with a bunch of activities that could be more expensive or could be less expensive, depending upon overall market penetration and marketing efforts.


MR. MARCHANT:  That is a valid statement.  If we signed up for an RFP and they had a sales person devoted and only sold one suite meter the whole year, then that would pose an issue for the vendor.

But it doesn't pose as big an issue for us, because they're projecting a certain volume and they're allocating resources, so that gets worked into their unit cost.

So whether they sell one -- you know, one suite meter at 550 or, you know, 10,000 at 550, it doesn't really impact our costs.


MS. TAYLOR:  So if they sell fewer, they're going to incur a loss on these activities on your behalf, in effect?


MR. MARCHANT:  Well, I mean, it is a unit cost.  So they have to put forth projections and calculations when they fill in their RFP, that they think they can make a profit at.

MS. TAYLOR:  Given the sizeable increase in the per-unit cost per Quadlogic meter that we've seen over the progression of this proceeding, how certain are you that for 2012, 550 is going to be in the range, given the fact you're in the middle a RFP?

MR. MARCHANT:  I think the 550 is a good value.  I don't see anything else that could substantially change that.


MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Mr. O'Leary?

MR. O'LEARY:  Go ahead, sorry.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No, no.  I am just asking you to carry on, if you're ready.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Marchant, what was the beginning date of the contract with your third-party vendor?


MR. MARCHANT:  It was three years prior to December 31st of this year, so that would have been, I guess, January 1st, 2008.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  So for 2009, they would have been undertaking the various marketing and business development functions they were required to under their contract; correct?

MR. MARCHANT:  That's correct.  But as I noted before, suite metering was a fairly new, so it was really a startup business.  So you're trying to get your name out in front of all of the players.  So...

MR. O'LEARY:  It was still BDR's recommendation that in addition to the amount that was embedded in the $440 per meter average at that time, there should be another $90,000 directly assigned to the Quadlogic class; correct?

MR. MARCHANT:  I would assume, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, okay.

MS. HARE:  Excuse me, but just to make sure the record is correct, I think it would have been January 1st, 2009, if it was three years?

MR. MARCHANT:  Sorry.  I can't do math on the stand.

MS. HARE:  I know.  We all have that problem.  But I think that's correct, isn't it?

MR. MARCHANT:  Correct, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Moving next to the issue of tariff or rate design, if I could turn you to your supplementary evidence at tab 1 - you spoke about it in your direct - at table 4.  It is on page 9.

MR. SEAL:  Yes, I have that.

MR. O'LEARY:  And these are the -- I believe these are the numbers that you expressed in your evidence-in-chief.  And on the left-hand column, we see what you are proposing, and, again, this is based upon a revenue-to-cost figure of 100.5.  So these numbers would be adjusted, if the Board requires there to be an adjustment to unity, based upon a deficiency.

But just using these numbers for now --


MR. SEAL:  Sorry, Mr. O'Leary, just to correct you, they are based on a revenue-to-cost of 100.0 for the Quadlogic class.

MR. O'LEARY:  Fair enough.

MR. SEAL:  So it would be after adjusting.

MR. O'LEARY:  What you have done here is actually reduced the revenue requirement of the class, because you were forecasting a surplus when it could be, in fact, a deficiency?

MR. SEAL:  The revenue cost model was set 100.5.  We reduced to that to 100.

MR. O'LEARY:  I understand, all right.  So just to compare what you have done is you have taken the -- in the right-hand column, the remaining residential class.  This is what you would propose would be the rates that other members of the residential rate class would pay, the non-Quadlogic class; correct?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. O'LEARY:  And you are proposing a fixed of $20.16 and the variable of 0.1646 on a kilowatt-hour basis.  And you are proposing for the suite meter class to essentially reduce the fixed component by about $4.00; right?

MR. SEAL:  Reduce?

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, would you agree that $16.29 is just a little less than $4.00 -- than $20.16?

MR. SEAL:  I will agree to that, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right, that's good.  You are increasing in the variable to 0.02701, which is by over one cent per kilowatt-hour?

MR. SEAL:  It is an increase.  It is higher than the residential rate, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, it is an increase of about 64 percent relative to what you are proposing for the remaining residential class?

MR. SEAL:  I will take your math, subject to check.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  And you would propose, if the Board accepted this, that this would go into place on January 1st, 2012, I presume?

MR. SEAL:  If the Board decides we have a Quadlogic class and accepts all of our costs as presented in this evidence, it would go in effect May 1st, 2012.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes.  So I am just curious as to what has happened that, as of January 1st, you should be treating this suite meter class in a different fashion than the other residential customers of Toronto Hydro.


MR. SEAL:  In fact, I would argue I am not treating them any differently, and we have explained exactly how we came up with those particular rates.

So to reiterate, what we did was we took the existing proportions of revenue coming from the entire residential class, the fixed proportion and the variable proportion.  We took those ratios and applied it to the revenue to be recovered from each of the Quadlogic and the remaining residential class.

And those are the rates that fall out from that, based on the forecasted number of units and based on the forecasted load for each of the classes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Is there anything else you rely on which supports this rate design?

MR. SEAL:  It's as straightforward as that, as what we came up with.

MR. O'LEARY:  If I could then flip you over to tab B under that particular tab, 1-B, it is sheet 02.  It is the fixed charge minimum monthly worksheet.

MS. TAYLOR:  Just before we go there, if I could clarify, table 4, the title says "Suite Meter Rates".  Did that really mean assuming the Quadlogic?

MR. SEAL:  Yes, my apologies.  I tend to use them somewhat interchangeably here, because we are talking about the Quadlogic class specifically.  But that is the Quadlogic class rate.

MR. O'LEARY:  If we go over to tab B, the first page at "Summary", you've got the different unit costs per month for both, in column 1 and 2, the residential and Quadlogic.

And I trust you would agree with me that your proposal of a fixed charge of -- first of all, let me understand what this is showing.

This is trying to tell you, from the cost model - so this is generated by the cost allocation model that you've run - the minimums and maximums that are permissible for the fixed charge component of the rate; correct?

MR. SEAL:  This particular component of the cost allocation model was designed to come up with some benchmarks for the fixed rates for all rate classes.

So when the model was being developed, there was a lot of discussion - and I was at some of those discussions - about what the appropriate way to develop or to come up with a fixed cost -- a fixed rate should be.

So in the development of the model, the Board's model, they have come up with these different types.  There is three different ways of estimating what the fixed charge could be to any particular class.  So that is what is shown here.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So let's look at the different benchmarks that are available for the residential.

The low is, first, customer unit per month avoided cost basis of $4.52, and the high is $20.35, which is the customer unit per month minimum system with PLCC adjustment.

And you are proposing $20.16, just shy of the maximum range or benchmark as set out in this worksheet; right?

MR. SEAL:  That's what falls out, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  And then we look at the Quadlogic class and the low is $12.71 and a high of $23.76.  And, in fact, what you've done is practically come down the middle and said $16.  So you are treating them differently in terms of where they are relative to the benchmarks generated under the fixed monthly charge worksheet.

MR. SEAL:  Well, again, I don't believe I'm treating them differently.  I have used one methodology to come up with a rate design for the Quadlogic class.

And, in my view, it treats them exactly the same.  The same amount of fixed revenue will come from the fixed charge for both classes, and the same amount of revenue, as a proportion of total, comes from the variable charge for both the Quadlogic class and the residential class.

So the way that I have done it, I believe I treated them the same.  I will agree with you that the cost allocation model, in the way it develops these three different potential fixed charges, does it based on the cost allocation model logic and comes up with different values.  I will agree with you to that.

MR. McLORG:  Mr. O'Leary, if it is helpful, I think much of the difference is explained by the different consumption profiles of the different sub-groups of customers.

Suite meter customers tend to have lower consumption in kilowatt hours, and, therefore, the rate is higher.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, Mr. McLorg, that may be the mathematical basis for arriving at certain numbers.  But would you agree with me, Mr. Seal, that you have the discretion, based upon this worksheet, to propose a fixed charge of up to $23.76 per month for the Quadlogic class?

MR. SEAL:  Well, I would agree that these numbers can inform my view.  My understanding is that the Board does look at these numbers, the low and the high, and takes that into consideration when an LDC proposes rates.

And, for example, in our current cost of service filing, there are a number of classes where we have proposed a fixed charge that is well above the ceiling rate, and in past cases have, as well, and have been accepted.

So these numbers are looked at, but in my understanding, they're not prescriptive.

MR. O'LEARY:  Okay.  Fair enough.

Let me ask you hypothetically:  If the Board were to determine that there is, in fact, a deficiency and the revenue-to-cost ratio was, say, 95 percent, so there is a 5 percent cross-subsidy - you're going to have to add revenues to the Quadlogic class - are you still going to propose a similar split, where the fixed component is lower than the remaining residential class?

MR. SEAL:  In my view, I've come up with a reasonable way to determine the tariff structure for the Quadlogic class and the remaining residential class.

So in the absence of being ordered otherwise, I would propose it.

MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry, you would?

MR. SEAL:  I would propose the same treatment.

MR. O'LEARY:  And so --


MR. McLORG:  But the numbers would be different, of course.

MR. O'LEARY:  Of course.  I understand that.

So you might have a somewhat different fixed monthly charge for the Quadlogic class, but it's still likely to be less than the remaining residential class, because of what you said, Mr. McLorg?  Your math, using the load, generates a lower number?

MR. SEAL:  I believe it would, yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  So if I could ask you just to flick over to the last tab, which is the Board's partial decision and order, page 35, the second paragraph of the Board's decision, they say -- again, this is tab 12 -- 13, my apologies, 13:

"The Board has determined that the creation and maintenance of a separate rate class for multi-residential customers that at present time are served utilizing Quadlogic technology is the most effective and transparent manner in which to address the aforementioned issues."

Next paragraph, the first sentence:
"The transparency of the specific costs of the suite metering service is required on an ongoing basis."

Mr. Seal, would you agree with me that if there is, in fact, a cross-subsidy determined by the Board, and that there is 5 percent or 10 percent too little being paid by the Quadlogic class, that by what you're proposing, you are not making the costs of the service transparent at all?  You're burying it in a reduction in the fixed cost and increasing the variable cost; where is the transparency?

MR. SEAL:  The transparency to me is in that we would be recovering from those customers those costs that they're incurring on the system.

So the revenue requirement that is determined, based on the allocation of costs, the transparent allocation of costs to that class, would be recovered through rates.  That's transparent to me.

MR. O'LEARY:  It's transparent to you -- sorry?

MR. McLORG:  If I could add, Mr. O'Leary, just to repeat what Mr. Seal has said before, THESL's proposal is that the same proportions of revenue recovery are applied to both the residential fixed charge and the variable charge, in both subgroups of the residential class.

So that's the basis of our contention that this is appropriate and that it is transparent.

Otherwise, you would be in a situation where you're really saying of the two different classes that a different proportion of the revenue requirement should be collected from each of the two subgroups respectively.  And that introduces different problems.

MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. McLorg, we're all familiar with the fixed/variable split, because we do this for a living.

But your typical Toronto Hydro residential ratepayer, are you telling me that if they looked at the charge for the typical residential customer at $20.16, being the fixed component, and $16.29 for the Quadlogic, that they will transparently realize that, in fact, the Quadlogic meter costs more to operate and to serve?

MR. McLORG:  Well, I don't think the customers have a view that their bill is determined exclusively by the fixed charge or the variable charge.  Customers tend to care about the total of their bill.

And as to the split between fixed and variable, well, that goes entirely to the question of the relative revenue responsibility, so to speak, in one class of customers, as between low-volume users and large-volume users.  Clearly, if we recovered all of the revenue from the fixed charge and there was no variable charge, then the low-volume users would be penalized and the high-volume users would, in effect, get a free ride.

And the opposite would occur in the opposite case.

So what we're saying is that we have made no change to the fundamental underpinnings of the residential rates.  We haven't changed rate design, as you would characterize it, and we're applying in this proposal the same proportionate revenue recovery to both classes.

As a result of the different consumption characteristics, the numbers shake out differently, but I don't think that, in our view, that's a reason to suppose that the two classes should be treated differently with respect to the relative proportions of revenue requirement that are recovered through a fixed charge versus a variable charge.

MR. O'LEARY:  Let me just suggest a couple of alternatives to you.

If there is a deficiency of 5 percent, a cross-subsidy of 5 percent that is ultimately accepted by the Board, would it not simply be open to Toronto Hydro to set or propose a rate for the Quadlogic class which is identical to the residential class, so the same fixed and variable amount, and add a 5 percent rate adder?  Wouldn't that cover it?  And call it the suite meter service fee; then everybody knows what it is for.

MR. McLORG:  I don't accept your proposition at all, Mr. O'Leary.  I don't think there is such a thing as the suite meter service fee, and our position is as I've just explained it.

First of all, I don't think, by the way, that it follows at all from there being a deficiency or a sufficiency.  Whatever the revenue requirement for the class that is found by the Board, the next question that the Board must decide is:  How will we recover that approved revenue requirement from the class?

And one of the fundamental questions involved in that is determining what proportion of the overall revenue requirement should be recovered through fixed charges versus variable charges.

And I repeat myself by saying that we're taking the position and in our proposal we have expressed the view that we don't want to alter that proportion between the two classes, but instead apply equal proportions between the two classes, because we think that is appropriate.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, I understand your position.  I am really just asking Mr. Seal whether it is possible.

Could you include a rate adder which would recover the revenue deficiency, which the Board has determined exists as a result of your cost study?

MR. SEAL:  I think Mr. McLorg has explained how we don't believe that is appropriate.

MR. O'LEARY:  But you could do it?

MR. SEAL:  As I mentioned at the technical conference, the beauty of rate design is that there is lots of different things you could do.

Whether they're appropriate or not, that's a different question.

MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  But I --


MR. SEAL:  And we have answered that one.

MR. O'LEARY:  But you could do it?

MR. SEAL:  Of course we could do it.

MR. O'LEARY:  Right.  And another alternative would be you could add 10 percent to the fixed and an appropriate percentage increase to the variable, and that would be another way to do it, as well?

MR. SEAL:  Again, mechanically, we could design rates however we like to recover the required revenue requirement, but whether it is appropriate to do it, we don't think so.

MR. McLORG:  There's an infinite number of combinations, Mr. O'Leary.

MR. O'LEARY:  And isn't it fair to say that the reason why you're proposing a lower fixed rate is because you think it will give you some sort of a competitive advantage over the suite metering companies, because your number looks better than their monthly charges?

MR. McLORG:  No.

MR. SEAL:  Can I add?  Absolutely not.

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, Mr. Chair, those are our questions, subject to any questions of yours.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Let me just canvass the other parties.  We're at quarter after 12:00 now.  If it looks like we're going to be any length of time, we will likely take a lunch break and come back.

I will also ask you, Mr. Rodger, about redirect estimates, given what you have heard so far.

Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think it will take somewhere between 15 minutes and half an hour, depending on how confused I get.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I don't expect to be more than 15 or 20 minutes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I think we probably will take the lunch break, as opposed to –-

MS. HARE:  I just --


MR. QUESNELLE:  I just want to finish up my thought here.  We will take a lunch break and come back, Mr. Rodger, and you will have, obviously, redirect, as well, to add on to that.  So I think it is appropriate, but Panel Members do have a couple of questions now that they would like to ask.

MS. HARE:  I have a couple of very quick questions, so that I am following the discussion.

The $20.16 that you are talking about versus the $16.29, the $20.16 is based on your proposed 2012; is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  The $20.16 came out as a result of this study, as well.  So it is not the same as what we proposed in our 2012 EDR case.

MS. HARE:  I guess why I'm confused is I'm looking at the table and it says the last approved was $18.50.

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

MS. HARE:  So where does the $20.16 come from, so that I know what I am comparing it to?

MR. SEAL:  So the $20.16 -- and perhaps if you will give me just a moment, Ms. Hare, I can find in evidence where it is described.

MS. HARE:  Mm-hm.

MR. SEAL:  It might be most helpful, hopefully -- an interrogatory was asked of us by VECC, Interrogatory 8, where we showed exactly how we came up with the rates in table 4.

So I don't know if you have that in front of you?

MS. HARE:  I don't, but it's okay.  I can --


MR. SEAL:  Maybe I can just try to describe, then.

So based on this study, we came up with the revenue requirement for each class and we moved the Quadlogic class to be 100 percent, so we could determine how much revenue then we needed to collect from the Quadlogic class and from the residential class.

What we said was our current rates, our current 2011 rates for the total residential sector - because we don't have the Quadlogic class, of course - recover a certain amount from the fixed portion and a certain amount from the variable portion.

So those ratios we then applied to each of the revenue requirements for the Quadlogic class and the residential class to come up with a proposed rate for each of the Quadlogic class and the residential class.

So it's the 2012 revenue requirement, allocated with the Quadlogic class to those two classes, keeping the revenue from the fixed and variable portions the same as it was in 2011.

MS. HARE:  Okay, good.  Thank you.

Just one last question.  It seems to me that a lot of this discussion about the fixed and variable split depends on the forecast or your projection of 334 kilowatt hours per month.

Was that a number that you came up with -- THESL came up with or BDR came up with?

MR. SEAL:  The 334 kilowatt hours per customer per month was a number that we derived from our most recent historical data of Quadlogic customers.

We had a sample of those customers and determined, based on that sample, which I believe had around, if I am not mistaken, 5,000 accounts, what the average monthly load was historically.  Admittedly historically.  We have used that load as our projection, as well.

So that 334 times 12, times the 24,000 customers, is the load that we're forecasting for the purposes of this study to come up with the rate for this study.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  My interest in asking that question is because that is quite low, 334.  But if that was based on 5,000 customers, then you have a lot of confidence, I assume, in that number?

MR. SEAL:  I do have confidence in that number.

We were asked a number of questions in interrogatories about that data, so I am comfortable with the data.  It is a sample.

The sample, admittedly, has quite a range.  If you look at the individual accounts within that, it has quite a range, but I am comfortable enough with that number.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Ms. Taylor.

MS. TAYLOR:  That's a nice segue into my question about the variability, because I do recall from the evidence that there is quite a variability around the 334.

And so given the higher capital cost of the overall meter bundle at $550, plus lower, but very volatile, consumption numbers, which may well have a volatility greater than your underlying residential rate, did you give any thought to whether the combination of those two facts derived from your own sample speak to perhaps a different fixed-to-variable ratio?

MR. SEAL:  No, I did not give any consideration to that.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  It is 25 after 12:00 now.  Let's resume at 1:30 and we will finish up then.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:25 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:49 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Please be seated.  My apologies for being late.  Thanks for your patience.

I believe where we left off, Mr. O'Leary, you had finished up.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Mr. Buonaguro, are you next in line?

Mr. Rodger, nothing came up that we need to discuss at this point?


MR. RODGER:  No, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Great.  Thank you.

Mr. Buonaguro?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am just getting my references put up on the screen.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thanks.


MR. BUONAGURO:  While that is happening, good afternoon, panel.

I am going to actually start with a follow-up question that you can use the book for, the KH3.2, document brief from the SSMWG at tab 11.  This is the undertaking -- technical conference undertaking JTC2.7, where you were asked to run a couple of scenarios on revenue-to-cost ratios, and the results were 93.9 percent and 92.6 percent.

Do you have that?


MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My question is with respect to what is in brackets here.  It says -- one of the conditions was, quote:

"...and directly assigning the Quadlogic meter capital costs to the Quadlogic class..."

Then in brackets:
"...(without making any other adjustments to the allocation of the remaining meter costs in the model)."

Now, my understanding of that was related to what you had said earlier about your sensitivity analysis with respect to directly allocating the Quadlogic meter costs to the Quadlogic class or the proposed Quadlogic class, basically that even when you do that, there would be -- I am assuming -- I am going to use the word "offsetting" decreases in the allocation to the Quadlogic class, because you would want to make sure you're not allocating meter costs to them from other meters in the system after you are directly allocating just their meter costs to them.

Is that what that bracket is referring to?


MR. SEAL:  The bracket refers to -- that we didn't make that adjustment.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. SEAL:  That all we did was take the meter costs associated with the Quadlogic meters for the customer group, and move that cost over, directly -- removed it from the overall meter costs, directly allocated it to the Quadlogic customers, but the remainder of the meter costs in the meter costs category get allocated across all classes, including the Quadlogic class.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So there's still attracting some of the, quote, "other metered costs" and you would have to correct for that if you were to do a true cost allocation run?


MR. SEAL:  To do it properly, that's right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

I think for context, I think the reason that you wouldn't have done it in the context of this particular undertaking, in part would be because, I think, at the time you did this undertaking response, there was still some uncertainty about whether -- where and how much the wholesale meter costs were residing in the cost allocation?


MR. SEAL:  That's correct.  When we did the undertaking response, we still believed that the wholesale meter costs or part of the meter cost category is only subsequent.

Upon looking at the details behind each of the accounts, we discovered that they were not part of that account.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Does that mean that now that you have located the whole submeter costs and they're not in the category that you're concerned about, would you just zero out that category for the Quadlogic class?


MR. SEAL:  That's how I have indicated we could deal with it.  So within the current model, the tab that deals with meter capital costs and coming up with the allocation for that, we could zero out any allocated costs of all of the other meters to the Quadlogic class.

That is how we could deal with it; that's my understanding.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But that's not what is done here?

MR. SEAL:  That is not what was done for this response.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.  I wanted to make sure I understood that.


Sorry, this is my first effort at I think what is now a coordinated approach to the audio-visual system.


MS. SEBALJ:  Mr. Buonaguro, I think I now have determined what you were asking me, and I have turned on PC 11, if that is what you were asking me.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  That is mine, and it is not working.


MS. SEBALJ:  Well, I will attempt to coordinate from here on in, then.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It's all right.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Buonaguro, can we just go back to the last questions that you had?  Ms. Taylor, I think, would like some further information, or perhaps a follow-up.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MS. TAYLOR:  I think it would be useful, for at least me anyway -- the rest of the Panel, I don't know -- to redo the sensitivity analysis, making the reallocation that you are talking about.


So in this sensitivity analysis you have taken the Quadlogic meter costs and directly allocated them to the Quadlogic class.  I would like you to back out the allocated other metering costs and redo the revenue-to-cost ratio.

Now that we're not worried about the wholesale metering costs, because they're in the other cost category, it would be useful, based on all of the information and assumptions that we were dealing with in the context of this proceeding, to know where that would come out at this time.


MR. SEAL:  Okay.


MS. TAYLOR:  Is that clear?


MR. SEAL:  I believe I can do that.  And what I would endeavour to do is, when I provide that information, to make sure it is clear what any other assumptions I have made in doing that.

MS. TAYLOR:  Mm-hmm.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Can we have an undertaking?


MS. SEBALJ:  We will call it JH3.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. JH3.1:  to REDO SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS OF REVENUE-TO-COST RATIO WITH ALLOCATED OTHER METERING COSTS BACKED OUT.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

So I have -- I am going to pop some references on there, mostly there to tell you where I got the information from, but I think maybe you should be able to follow along.  If you need me to stop, by all means ask me to stop.

So just starting off, my understanding is that the cost allocation that is before the Board now that we're talking about is a cost allocation study for the year 2012.  And I think that is clear in the evidence at Exhibit L1, tab 5, schedule 1, page 1, for example.


MR. SEAL:  That's correct.  It uses our forecasted 2012 costs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Thank you.


And for example, customer counts as one of the factors, and the split between primary and secondary connections -- that's another example -- they're both based on 2012 forecasts?


MR. SEAL:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And the usage per customer, which is another important factor, at 334 kilowatt-hours per month is based on recent actual data, and we have talked about that?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, there's already been quite a bit of a discussion on the primary versus secondary issue.

I am just going to quickly pull up Exhibit L1, tab 5, schedule 1, page 7, which is the corrected evidence.


And you have been talking about -- well, for example you started -- you went through this with Mr. O'Leary, that in reality, although I think the cost allocation use is a factor of 8 percent for the secondary allocation, secondary cost allocation, the actual costs are going down over time, or they have between 2009 and 2012.

So for example, in 2009 it was 7.6 percent, and in 2012 you are projecting 6.9 percent?


MR. SEAL:  That isn't -- that is not costs.  Those percentages are the percentages of suites that are -- that we have determined are served by secondary assets.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  Thank you.

And as that percentage goes down, the allocation of costs will go down?


MR. SEAL:  If you were to apply it directly, yes.  We used or BDR used 8 percent for the 2009 numbers, which was a rounded seven -- whatever percent it was for those umber of suites.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I put this up here.  It is Exhibit T2, tab 1, schedule 1.

MR. SEAL:  Right.  So 7.6 percent is what we had, if you took the actual suite numbers.  They used a rounded number of 8 percent, so we just continued that for 2012.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  And I think you had a whole discussion with Mr. O'Leary about maybe anticipating what happens into the future with respect to these numbers, and I think you declined to give an opinion, basically; is that fair?


MR. SEAL:  Well, I think what we said was we don't have specific information, and I pointed to this particular one where for 2012 we do have the specific information.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But beyond that you are not -- you haven't given any evidence on a trend up or down, either way?

MR. SEAL:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I just wanted to confirm that.  Thank you.


Now, I will go back to the cite I put up first.  This is Exhibit L1, tab 5, schedule 1, page 7, and I just want to make sure I understood how this works.

You put in here in your sensitivity analysis the percentage of secondary allocated, plus or minus 8 percent.

What you're telling us here is that if the percentage of secondary allocated goes up 8 percent, the actual revenue-to-cost ratio is going to go up 3.4 percent; correct?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And now I am going to turn briefly to --


MR. SEAL:  Sorry, Mr. Buonaguro.  If the percentage of secondary allocated to that class was to increase by 8 percent, so, in other words, go to 16 percent --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. SEAL:  -- the revenue-cost ratio would actually go down.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  That's actually how I understood it, although that is not what I said.  Thank you for correcting me.

And then I am going to take you briefly to the average use factor.  This is from Board Staff Interrogatory No. 20.

MS. TAYLOR:  Mr. Buonaguro, before you ask your question on average use, I would like to come back to the notion of, again, the secondary allocation.  And when we're talking about a building that's bulk metered, that is, in effect, one customer, one suite, if I can use your terminology.

Can you sub-meter or suite meter or Quadlogic meter that building -- so forget the sub-meter, but put in direct meters.  You're increasing the number of suites.

When you go back and look at your math and you do, in effect, a weighted cost reflecting number of buildings as opposed to the number of suites, does that change your 8 percent at all?

MR. SEAL:  If I was to use a building as percentage, so buildings that are served by secondary and primary?

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.  That is the primary driver of...

MR. SEAL:  Well, I don't know for sure, because I haven't looked at the numbers exactly, but the math might be a little bit different.

I suspect it wouldn't be hugely different.  In other words, we had 8 percent.  Perhaps if you took it on a building perspective, it would be 10 percent or 6 percent or maybe even 15 percent or 5 percent.

But I wouldn't expect it to go from 8 percent, say, up to 90 percent.  And, sorry, Ms. Taylor, just to elaborate a little bit on why we do it on a suites basis, the allocator of the secondary cost within the cost allocation model is number of customers, secondary number of customers.  So that is why we used the suites, because they are the customers as the determinant for how much we should adjust for the secondary.

MS. TAYLOR:  So the secondary costs, in effect, are being treated the same way the primary would be?  Is that what you're saying to me?

MR. SEAL:  Well...

MS. TAYLOR:  You discussed earlier in the proceeding how you deduct the $100, and then reallocate it over the total number of customers.  Is that analogous to how you would be dealing with the secondary costs?

MR. SEAL:  So the first example was a direct allocation of primary.

MS. TAYLOR:  Mm-hm.

MR. SEAL:  So the allocation of primary costs and secondary costs in the model is similar.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.

MR. SEAL:  Similar, but not the same.

The primary costs are allocated based on number of customers by class, total number of customers, and that's based on the assumption that all customers are being serviced by our primary assets.

The secondary costs are allocated not on total number of customer by class, but based on a number of customers that are served by secondary assets.

So for most classes, this number is less than the total number of customers, including the GS-50-to-999 class.

MS. TAYLOR:  Then that comes back to my point, because if a building is subject -- served by secondary assets, then the math changes when you go to a suite metering configuration for that building.  And, in fact, then your 8 percent on average, depending on how the number of customers is distributed behind each bulk meter, that number could be higher or lower.  And I am trying to get a materiality factor.

So if you're taking a large number of buildings with a large number of customers behind each bulk meter, you're going to have a different result than if you're taking a different bulk meter with a small number of customers and moving them out.

MR. SEAL:  Again, I don't have the numbers, but I think that is why I was -- my belief that the -- if you do it on a building basis, you don't get a lot of difference from the magnitude of the numbers that we have here.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay, thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If I can just follow up on that?

There is also, I guess -- concept-wise there are no buildings as customers in the Quadlogic class; right?  There is just individual Quadlogic customers within the suites.

MR. SEAL:  Those are the customers.  There still is the house service, the remainder of the service in the building --


MR. BUONAGURO:  But they would be in a different rate class --


MR. SEAL:  They would be.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- and would have to have a completely different allocation to account for those costs?

MR. SEAL:  Yes.

MS. POWELL:  Thank you.  Let me figure out where I was.

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  No, by all means.  I just -- I tend to do this a lot.  I have to ask that my original estimate not necessarily be bound.

MS. TAYLOR:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But I am quite happy to have questions in between.

I was going to the average use factor, and you have talked about how the 334 kilowatt-hour amount was derived.  And in part (b) of this response to an interrogatory from Board Staff, interrogatory number 20 -- at part (d), the question asked about what happens when you replace one assumption from the other.  The answer was:

"Replacing the assumption of 334 kWh per month per suite with 361 kWh per month per suite..."


And the 361 obviously comes from I think the original BDR report:
"...increased the revenue requirement to $8,273K for the Quadlogic class (compared to ...)..."


Something less than that for 334 kilowatt-hours:
"...and increases the Revenue to Cost ratio to 101.2 (compared to 100.5) as revenues are also higher."


So I understood from that that going to the higher revenue per unit -- sorry, going to the higher throughput unit, so going from 334 to 361, increased the revenue collected from the particular units or presumed to be collected from units, but also increased the costs there were being caused by the units and, therefore, the revenue-to-cost was going to increase.

Does this work in reverse, as well, so that a reduction in their average use, in this case from 361 to 334, reduces the revenue-to-cost ratio, so there is a similar relationship?

MR. SEAL:  I would think logically, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And given the change between 2009 and 2012 that we've seen - so a reduction from 361 to 334 kilowatt hours - based on the difference between the updated BDR study and your more recent historical data which underpins the 334, do you have any view as to whether the value will tend to decrease further after 2012?

MR. SEAL:  The value of the revenue-to-cost ratio?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, the 334.

MR. SEAL:  Oh, so the consumption for the units?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.

MR. SEAL:  No, I don't specifically have a view on that.  As I've said in our interrogatory responses and in our evidence, the measured consumption per suite, from the samples that we've had, has some variability in it, with some much higher, some much lower than the average.

Where it will be next year or the year after that, I can't say exactly.  I suspect if I was to run a sample again today with the most recent data, I would get a different number.  That would be to be expected, in my opinion.  It's sample data.  But, directionally, I couldn't speculate.

We have indicated in our response - I don't remember if it was this one or one of the other ones - that over time we certainly have seen a reduction in average use per unit for the residential class as a whole.

Whether that's because of CDM activities, because of more condos being built, making smaller units as a part of the whole class, I don't know for sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.  Now, I think you have talked briefly about the fact - and it is no secret - that you currently have a cost of service application for the test years 2012 to 2014 in front of the Board; correct?

MR. SEAL:  It's not a secret.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the Board -- it is also not a secret the Board is currently considering exactly what to do with that cost of service application; correct?

MR. SEAL:  Yes, it is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  On a threshold issue question.

Now, assuming for the moment that the Board does accept the cost of service filing from Toronto Hydro for 2012 to 2014 - so that's assumption number 1 - and, second, that as a result of this proceeding the Board first directs you to establish a separate class for suite metering customers; and second, provides direction as to how the cost-allocation methodology is to incorporate the suite metering class; and third, requires the revenue-to-cost ratio for the suite metering class to be set at 100 percent, in that context, and as we've spoken about, you only have a cost allocation study for 2012, right?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Am I correct in assuming that based on the foregoing -- the discussion we just had about changes that might happen in the future, one way or the other, i.e., the secondary, the proportion of secondary -- sorry, the proportion of customers that are served by secondary or how the average use might change over time, that a cost allocation study specific to 2013 or 2014, for example, could well produce different revenue-to-cost ratios for this class?

MR. SEAL:  I think they certainly could, and I don't think that is even necessarily dependent on the load assumption or the percentage of primary assumption.

The underlying costs will be different in 2013.  The allocators will work their allocation magic, and I would not be surprised at all if the revenue-to-cost ratios that drop out are somewhat different.

I wouldn't expect them to be completely different one year to the next.  I never would.  But I can almost guarantee they wouldn't be the same.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you have given some sensitivity analysis to show how certain things might drive a change, for example.  We talked about an 8 percent difference in the secondary -- in the customers served by secondary, producing a particular result and so on.

Now, based on that, would it be fair to say in order to meet the 100 percent revenue-to-cost ratio requirement, assuming that is a requirement imposed on you by the Board for this rate class, an updated cost allocation study would have to be done for each of 2013 and 2014, for example?

MR. SEAL:  Yes, I believe it would.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.

Now, you went into some detail with Mr. O'Leary about direct allocation.  I just had a couple of clarification questions to follow up on.

I think he took you to his book, KH3.2, tab C -- tab 1C, sorry, which was the direct allocation work sheet.

It is called "sheet I-9," filed November 4th, 2011.

My understanding is if we're looking at the rate class that we're most concerned about here in terms of direct allocation, we're looking at the GS 50-to-999 class; is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  That's one of the three classes that we're currently directly allocating to.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right, but in terms of classes where buildings are coming out of the class and becoming suite metered?  I think it would --


MR. SEAL:  It would likely be that class, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And in terms of the dollar values that are in here, we're talking about $3 million under account number 1840, and $1.2 million under 1845, for example.

I just want to reconcile something, and I think I know the answer but I want to make sure I understood it.

At SSMWG Interrogatory No. 20(a), you were asked about this issue.  And just at the end of the paragraph -- and it happens to be the part I didn't highlight -- it says here:

"THESL notes however that of the total $2.9 million of revenue requirement allocated through direct allocation, only $222 thousand is currently allocated to the GS 50-to-999 kilowatt class (of which Quadlogic metered buildings are a small proportion of the total customer base)."

I took that to mean -- and we're looking at fairly large numbers within the class on this table, but in terms of translating those numbers into revenue requirement, we're only talking about for the GS 50-to-999 kilowatt class, we're only talking about $222,000?  Is that how I understand that?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.  If you look at the very last sheet, the last page of that piece, of that part of the brief you will see at the very last row are the revenue requirement consequences of all of those numbers up above.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Then you're point in this interrogatory response is the part that could be relevant to suite metered units, at least buildings that have actually been suite metered for the purposes of doing a cost allocation and putting people into a class, it is a much smaller subset of that?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, I do have questions on meter reading, and I am hoping I am understanding how this works.

You talked about some of this before, so I am going to do without references until I need one.

My understanding from the discussion this morning and the interrogatory responses is that, although Quadlogic -- both Quadlogic and regular residential smart meters are read every day, technically, for the purpose of the cost allocation, what you're interested in is how often they're billed; is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  Not entirely correct.

The sheet within the cost allocation model for meter reading, the meter reading sheet in there, the purpose of that sheet is to allocate meter reading costs to the different classes.

What we need to do is make sure that we're, for all of the different classes, treating them all on a similar basis as to what is driving their meter reading costs.

So the correction that we made from the previous study to this study was reflecting the fact that the Quadlogics are billed monthly, not every two months.  And because of that, billing is just one of the -- I don't know.  I will call it a weighting or one of the factors that goes into what determines how much the reading costs are.

The more you bill, the more you are going to read.

So we just wanted to make sure we reflect it properly in the part of the model that allocates those meter reading costs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Let me -- with that background, let me take you through this, to make sure I understand.

My understanding is when it comes to allocating the meter reading costs, the allocation factor from meter reading takes into account, first, the number of meters; correct?

MR. SEAL:  For each class.

MR. BUONAGURO:  For each class?  Thank you.

The number of billings per year, which I think you just talked about.  So for the residential class, six billings per year, and then for the Quadlogic class, proposed Quadlogic class, 12 readings per year?

MR. SEAL:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then third, a weighting factor for the relative costs of meter reading for each.  And for residential, for the normal residential meter, your weighting factor is one; correct?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then for Quadlogic, the weighting is 3.6, I believe?

MR. SEAL:  That's our estimate for 2012.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And I think all of that is buried somewhere in -- I think it is sheet I7.2?

MR. SEAL:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, my understanding is that when you take the 12 readings for the Quadlogic versus the six readings per year for a regular smart meter, a residential smart meter, and you combine that with the 3.6 weighting for Quadlogic versus the one weighting for smart meters, you get the -- you get a result which says that the meter reading cost for a Quadlogic meter is 7.2 times higher.  I think that is the seven-times figure that comes up?

MR. SEAL:  No.  No, that is not it, and that is maybe where some of the confusion comes in.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That is why I am crossing you on it, so thank you.

MR. SEAL:  The seven and 3.6 that we had before –- or, sorry, the 3.6 that we have in the current study versus the seven that was in the previous study, so those are the relative costs of meter reading for the different classes.

And those numbers were developed strictly on the per - well, as I said, either the monthly, a monthly meter reading cost for each class, or an annual one.  It doesn't matter.  It is just the total cost to read residential meters, the total cost to read Quadlogic meters, on a similar basis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. SEAL:  So that is where the seven and the 3.6 came from, so the relative weighting.

Within the meter reading spreadsheet, then, you're taking those weights and applying it to the number of the types of meters within that spreadsheet.  So they're not directly related; they both go into determining how much meter reading costs are allocated to each of the classes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So let me try this, to try to understand it.

If I take you to technical conference undertaking No. 2, which I think you may have talked about briefly today already, this is the annual meter reading costs associated with Quadlogic meters.

It is shown to be $18.99 per meter, and then for residential smart meters it is $5.21 per meter.  That is based on the different -- well, actually, I can ask you this now.  On this, it shows a factor of 12 for each one; is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And on this answer, I think if you do the math, 18.99 and the 5.21, it comes out to that ratio of 3.6, is that right, the 3.6 per --


MR. SEAL:  As would a ratio of 1.58 to 0.43.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So this shows that the annual -- at least it seems, on the face of it, it shows an annual reading cost which is a difference -- or where the Quadlogic meters are 3.6 times more expensive to read on a yearly basis than the smart meters?

MR. SEAL:  A relative weighting, that's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Are these meter reading costs, is this what is spit out of the cost allocation model when you do it, when you factor in this other factor?

So this shows the 3.6 factor.  I don't understand how then you come up with the additional weighting which produces a result of seven times -- a relative weighting 7.2 times higher.

MR. SEAL:  Seven was the old costs in 2009.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. SEAL:  So the similar type of exercise that you have just done with these numbers here for the 2009 meter reading costs -- and perhaps I can turn you to the next page.  Sorry, the next page in my book.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  It will be the next page here, too.

MR. SEAL:  JTC2.3.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. SEAL:  So there you can see the ratio of seven was determined based on the Quadlogic at 2.75 and a residential at 39 cents --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. SEAL:  -- per month.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Perhaps I can leave it with this, and I will ask you for an undertaking to do a calculation for me and you can tell me if it makes sense to you.

Can you show me, in the most current cost allocation which you are applying for approval before the Board, the total meter reading costs assigned to each class, the total meters for each class, and the resulting average meter reading costs per class from sheet I7.2 of the cost allocation model?

I think you're what you're telling me is if you do that, you're going to end up with the 3.6 ratio between the residential and the Quadlogic, that there will be a difference of -- that will represent the difference between the annual costs.

MR. SEAL:  I can certainly do that calculation that you just indicated.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  You don't have to do it on the spot.

MR. SEAL:  No, and I won't.  I was just trying to think whether it is already in the evidence, actually.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Well, if it is, the undertaking would just be to refer to that.  That's fine.  You don't have to spend a lot of time wrestling with it.  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  JH3.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JH3.2:  TO PROVIDE, IN THE MOST CURRENT COST ALLOCATION APPLIED FOR, THE TOTAL METER READING COSTS ASSIGNED TO EACH CLASS, THE TOTAL METERS FOR EACH CLASS AND THE RESULTING AVERAGE METER READING COSTS PER CLASS FROM SHEET I7.2 OF THE COST ALLOCATION MODEL, IF NOT ALREADY PROVIDED IN THE EVIDENCE.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Seal, just further to that, if I could add to this, we are just wondering if in the evidence you have the cost differential that is showing -- if we could leave this exhibit up here.

From 2009 to 2012, you've got a 0.39 cents per customer going to 0.43, and I am just wondering if you could explain the cost driver in that, the increase that is driven by?

MR. SEAL:  I will turn to Mr. Marchant for that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Marchant?

MR. MARCHANT:  So those two costs are basically the costs of reading the residential class of meters.  So the 39 is a little bit smaller, because we had -- at that time we weren't completely transformed to smart meters, so it included some manual reads.  So instead of reading the meter daily electronically, there were still some routes that were -- you know, where we would send someone out and grab the data.  But that only happened once -- you know, once every month or two.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So the cost has gone from up now that we're fully automated, and you have the cost of your data management and the hourly reads and all of those elements.  That is the cost driver for the residential increase?

MR. MARCHANT:  Correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  And the Quadlogic decrease?

MR. MARCHANT:  The 2.75, that represents the rate in our original RFP to read the meters.  So by bringing it in-house, we can save considerably in terms of the per-unit read costs.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thanks.

MS. TAYLOR:  Can you just expand on that for me, please?  When you say you are going to use existing infrastructure, are there additional costs that you have to create internally?  Just a little bit -- most people move out to save money.  You are coming in to save money.  It is a little bit counterintuitive.

MR. MARCHANT:  Well, the 2.75, frankly, represented our third parties setting up the infrastructure to read our meters based on, really, at that time, a fairly new business.

So by bringing it in-house -- and I am not sure which interrogatory it is at this point, but where we outlined the capital costs.  So, you know, there is costs for hardware such as servers, the software itself, and then our own meter reading people will be doing the meter reading.

So, currently, we read 700,000-plus meters, so this will be another 25,000 or 24,000 in the total.

MS. HARE:  I may be asking a very naive question.  I thought the whole issue around smart meters and Quadlogic was that nobody actually physically goes and reads the meter, that it is all electronic.

But listening to you, it sounds like somebody is actually going out and reading the meter.  So what am I missing?

MR. MARCHANT:  No.  It is all fairly automated, but there's still -- I mean, it requires some human intervention at certain points to get the bills out.

MS. HARE:  Why would there be a difference in cost between a Quadlogic and a smart meter residential meter?  Why would it be any different?

MR. MARCHANT:  Because typically they're Quadlogic meters, so they're power line carrier meters, whereas with a typical smart meter we might get 96, 97 percent of the reads right away.

Quadlogic, it is not quite that high.  So then it requires some manual dial-ins, and that sort of thing, to get the data.

MS. HARE:  So since we have interrupted, Mr. Buonaguro, let me ask another question.

Why do you feel you need to read monthly the Quadlogic and every two months residential, or are you going to move everybody to monthly?

MR. MARCHANT:  I can't really answer why, other than it seems everyone else in suite metering bills monthly.  So -- and to get back to that, both meter types we read daily.  So every day we get the data, if we can, from both classes.

MR. SEAL:  If I can just add to that, I think the primary reason we're billing on a monthly basis for the Quadlogic suite meter customers versus semi-monthly -- I can never remember if it is semi or bimonthly -- every two months for residential, normal residential customers, because we have to -- we're billing the general service service on a monthly basis.  And in some cases we actually -- the billing for the suite meter units is determined by knowing the bulk meter load, as well.

So it makes sense to bill them at the same time.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MS. TAYLOR:  Lastly, before we leave this point.  So there still is some human intervention required for the Quadlogic.

Does that mean that absent this type of metering activity in your base business, you wouldn't have a certain amount of resources, and have you isolated what those resources are?

So you are pulling something in that is out.  It is, on average, more intensive to process.  It requires more human intervention than your standard suite meter.

So it seems to me that your original RFP might have been higher priced for a variety of reasons, but that pulling it in, there still is some cost that is sticking to this group that may or may not be discretely allocated between the Quadlogic and your regular fleet of suite meters, based on what you have said here today.

MR. MARCHANT:  Well, the $1.58 is what we actual accurately believe, in terms of budget, what it will cost to do the suite metering reads in-house.  So that includes resources, software, and IT support.

MS. TAYLOR:  And does that include -- so we're talking about 2012 today, and Mr. Buonaguro pointed out that we are going to have different numbers in 2013, 2014.

So I am assuming that when you do future cost allocation studies, that $1.58 per meter is going to move, especially if you are adding more meters and you still require certain intervention.  So it might not grow in a perfectly one-for-one, but it certainly is going to be kind of linear in terms of growth; is that correct?

MR. MARCHANT:  I would hope as we add more and more meters in-house that that cost per unit would decrease, just by scale.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  The clock is back over to you, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  To another topic - and this came up in the technical conference - I would like to talk about the issue of the allocation of services to the Quadlogic class.

First, can you confirm that in your current cost allocation, the services weighting factor used for Quadlogic, the Quadlogic class, is 1.0, which is the same as for residential?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And in response to Staff IR No. 19, you agreed that a weighting factor of less than one may be appropriate, since each building with Quadlogic customers only has one service drop.

Do you recall that?

MR. SEAL:  I am just going to bring that one up, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  I can do it too.

MR. SEAL:  Yes, I think what we were acknowledging was that it is possible, when you consider it on a suite basis - because it is on a suite basis, again; these are costs that are allocated on a suite basis - that your one service drop to the building allocated over the number of suites now would be something less than a one-to-one relationship.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. SEAL:  So I think we acknowledge that is a possibility.

We also provided what the impact of going -- like, totally removing the services cost, and it is not a large amount.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Thank you.

Now, can you confirm that service drops are only associated with customers served at secondary voltages?

MR. SEAL:  That's my understanding.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then I am going to go through the numbers, because I think you have been through them a couple of times now.  If you want me to pull it up, I can, but from technical conference undertaking No. 1, we found that there were 1,710 Quadlogic customers served at secondary voltages?

MR. SEAL:  That is our forecast, our estimate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And then from Staff IR No. 1(b), we know that there are 11 buildings associated with these customers, so 11 buildings having suite metered customers who are on secondary?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then -- so then would it be fair to say that for buildings serviced at secondary voltage, the average number of Quadlogic customers for 2012 is roughly 155?  So you would take the 1,710, divide between 11 buildings, and you are getting an average of 155 per building?

MR. SEAL:  That would be the math.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

And now during the technical conference - I will just give you the reference for the transcript.  It was at page 47 - Mr. O'Leary raised with you the fact that the buildings with the Quadlogic customers are larger than a normal residential customer, and may have service costs more typical of a GS 50-to-999 or a 1,000-to-4,999 customer.

Do you remember that from the technical conference?

MR. SEAL:  I actually have that, so I can see that, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, in your cost allocation model, can you confirm that for those two classes the weighting factor used for services is 10, as opposed to 1.0 for residential?

MR. SEAL:  That's my recollection, yes.  I should say for the GS 50 classes, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Thank you.

Now, if we were to combine both of these factors, one that for the average -- that there is an average of 155 customers per building within the Quadlogic class that is served by secondary and therefore has a service drop, and two, the weighting factor of 10 per building, would it be reasonable to concludes that the weighting factor for Quadlogic services should be 0.064, which would be the original weighting factor of 10, divided by 155 customers on average per building?

Would that be a reasonable conclusion?

MR. SEAL:  I can't off the top of my head think of why it wouldn't be.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I will take that.

[Laughter]


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am sure --


MR. SEAL:  It may think of something later, but right now, I can't, no.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The result is consistent with something less than one, because you're –-

MR. SEAL:  Well, exactly.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- dealing with a sub --


MR. SEAL:  Which is what I was thinking when I answered that interrogatory.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But it is something more than zero, because they are being served by secondary?

MR. SEAL:  Correct, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, lastly -- and I think you already pointed out in this interrogatory, you noted that changing the allocation factor for services from 1.0 to zero, which would be the most drastic change you could make, would decrease the costs allocated by about $103,000 and increase the revenue-to-cost ratio by 1.3 percentage points, from 100.5 to 101.8.

Now, would you agree that within the normal rate-setting process, this would not be a concern, because both ratios would be within the Board's guidelines?

MR. SEAL:  Well, they're certainly both within the guidelines.  Whether it is a concern or not, I am not sure, but –-

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, to put it this way, if we were dealing with Quadlogic, the Quadlogic class, on the basis of a competitive endeavour and all of the reasons why we're in this proceeding, if it was just the residential rate class or a large user rate class and we're looking at a difference of between -- a difference of 100.5 to 101.8, I don't think there is a rate class out there where that would be something that you would necessarily have to make changes in the revenue-to-cost ratios.

MR. SEAL:  No.  And I think the Board has been quite clear that -- the guidelines, the ranges that are acceptable for normal ratemaking purposes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And as I guess I just said, however, in this, as the Board noted in last year's partial decision, which I think you have already gone through today – that's EB-2010-0142, page 45, and you have quoted that same passage in your evidence at Exhibit L1, tab 5, schedule 1, page 7 - the unique aspect in this case is the existence of a competitive market for the provision of submetering, which the Board has concluded requires the determination of the true costs of serving these customers, and which you have interpreted as requiring a revenue-to-cost ratio of unity.  And that is from Exhibit L1, tab 5, schedule 1, page 8, for the class; correct?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, the issue that I am going to raise is that through this process, I think there have been identified a number of issues where the impact is relatively small.

So for example, the allocation of services, which you have just talked about, and sorting out the direct allocation of feeder costs, which we talked briefly about, and there are other issues where perhaps the data to resolve the problem is not readily available.

The example I had was the wholesale metering, although I think you managed to resolve that, but presumably there are areas where you would need more data in order to get closer to a true allocation.

And establishing a true allocation would require resolving each and every one of these issues.  However, at the same time, we can probably know that the cost allocation model itself is not perfect.

Would you agree?

MR. SEAL:  I would agree.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Indeed, this is one of the reasons why the Board's revenue-to-cost guidelines include ranges for the other customer classes; correct?

MR. SEAL:  That's my understanding.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So our question to you is:  What is your view, or THESL's view, and/or what advice you would offer the Board as to how to proceed from here?

So for example, should the Board be making a determination on all of the issues raised and directing you to undertake the necessary analysis to come up with a revised allocation for 2012, regardless of the size of the impact of the individual issues, relative to the efforts involved?

MR. SEAL:  I obviously can't speak for the Board.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. SEAL:  And the Board has directed us to produce this study, to produce this information.  So that is what we've done.  We produced the information.

And I've tried to be helpful, in terms of providing some scenarios to give some indication of the sensitivity of the cost allocation model and the resulting revenue-to-cost ratios that fall out of it.

That is what I have provided.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So are you saying that THESL doesn't have a position on whether what I would characterize as potentially small differences in revenue-to-cost ratio, or what may be monumental efforts to get the proper facts on the record in order to do a, quote/unquote, "truer" allocation, you don't have a position on whether those are things that the Board should or shouldn't be asking you to do as part of this process?

MR. SEAL:  No, I don't have an opinion on that, specifically.

I do have an opinion on the cost allocation model, and the results that come from it, my own personal opinion, not what I think the Board should do with it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. SEAL:  But I do have my own views.

MR. McLORG:  Mr. Buonaguro, if I could add to that just briefly, I think it is clearly the case, though, that THESL would have a view as to the relative regulatory efficiency of having to come before the Board with a reasonable amount of evidence, in order to adjust the ratio from 100.1 to 100.

I don't think that any of us would want to undertake a laborious process like that for a change that would be, at most, marginal, if not negligible.

So I think, in concept, we would have the view that, you know, there's some kind of practical plus or minus threshold around the 100 percent that would be appropriate to observe in successive years after the rate class was originally established.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I was going to ask you about that scenario.  So you would agree or would be open to the idea of a range around 100, perhaps much tighter than the normal ranges for this class, because of the nature of the adjustments that have to be made and the effort involved?

MR. McLORG:  The short answer is yes.  We don't resile from our understanding that, in this case, the revenue-to-cost ratio ought to be 100, but we recognize that as time proceeds, that will flicker and that there's a consideration of reasonableness that we would urge the Board to apply, in terms of how often and at what cost, you know, the numbers would have to be updated.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Then just lastly, I guess slightly alternative to that.  Would THESL agree, for example, to a proposal that would prioritize these different issues that have varying effects on the revenue-to-cost ratios, in terms of incorporating them into the revenue cost -- or incorporating them into the cost allocation, perhaps, maybe not immediately, but doing it under two or three years, prioritizing the different issues so that over time the cost allocation for this particular class gets -- I guess the word would be "tighter"?

If so, how would you think about prioritizing these issues?

MR. McLORG:  We have to respond, to put it colloquially, off the top of our heads to that question, Mr. Buonaguro.

But I would think that a reasonable way to approach that kind of question would be to identify what factors produce the greatest change in the revenue-to-cost ratios of interest; that is, what factors exert the most influence, and try first to get as accurate a picture of those factors as we can.  And we would proceed down the list, so to speak.

I don't mean to suggest that quantitatively you could know, with 100 percent confidence in advance, what those factors would be.

And a large change in a relatively insignificant factor could make a total change equal to a small change in a significant factor, if you catch my drift in that.

But I think that, you know, we would like to be responsive to the Board's views in this matter, certainly, and we would want to do something that was balanced in terms of regulatory efficiency and the final outcome, as far as the marketplace is concerned.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Buonaguro, thank you very much.  Mr. Shepherd.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  So, Mr. Seal, it will come as no surprise to you I will be a lot more high level than Mr. Buonaguro was.

Our concern, of course, is with the GS-greater-than-50 class and how this all impacts that class.  But let me start with a couple of just basic things.

You have these -- on average, you expect to have 24,898 suite metered customers in 2012; right?

MR. SEAL:  Quadlogic metered customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Quadlogic, sorry.  These are only the ones that you supply, or these are all of the ones; that is, the private sector and the company?

MR. SEAL:  These are THESL customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  THESL, okay.  So there is additional ones that would be -- the private sector would be supplying, and to you they would be GS-over-50 customers?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And each of these suites you are anticipating will average a load of 334 kilowatt hours per month; right?

MR. SEAL:  That's the estimate we're using, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if I just do the simple math, it looks to me like you are proposing to charge these customers $16.29 as a fixed charge and 334 times 2.7 cents as a variable charge, for a total of just over $25 each per month, right, about $300 a year?

MR. SEAL:  I will take your math, subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. SEAL:  That is quite low level there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?

MR. SEAL:  That is quite low level math.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, for me, yeah, I know.

And am I right in assuming that you are projecting that that 24,898 customers is 113 buildings?  I just added up the total from your chart of what the --


MR. SEAL:  It is 113, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  113, okay.  So that means, on average, those buildings are expected to have 220 units each?

MR. SEAL:  Okay, again, with the math, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that a fairly big building or is that -- I mean, it's been a long time since I lived in an apartment.  Is that a big building, a small building?  What is it?

MR. SEAL:  A 200-unit building, I don't know if I would call it a big building or a small building.  I don't know, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Am I right in understanding that, on average, these buildings are going to have a load, as GS-over-50 customers, in the order of about 300 kilowatts?  Is that a reasonable average, about 300 kilowatts?

MR. MARCHANT:  Yes, I would assume common area load.  So a 200-unit apartment, you would probably have a chiller of around 200 tons.  So with ancillary loads, yeah, it is probably in the 300-kilowatt range.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How much of that is the suites and how much of that is the common areas?

MR. MARCHANT:  Well, sorry, I was referring just to the common area loads.

So in the summer, if you had a 200-unit condominium, generally they're sized at around a ton a suite, so that's 200 tons.  A chiller is about, say, 0.6 kilowatts a ton, so you start adding up ancillary loads and common area lighting, and that.

So it wouldn't be too far off from 300 kilowatts, say.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is just for the common areas?

MR. MARCHANT:  And that is summer when the chiller is running.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what about average for the year?  I'm trying to get a sense of what sort of revenues you're going to get from these average buildings.

MR. MARCHANT:  This is really off the top of my head, but you could assume, probably with the common area lighting, parking lots and that sort of thing, probably, say, 70 kilowatts.  That's just a quick estimate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then if you just do the math on the suites, it looks like you're talking about 75,000 kilowatt hours per month, just 220 suites times 334, is about 73,000.

And there's a way you can convert that to demand; right?  There is a shortcut you can use to convert it to demand?

MR. MARCHANT:  Yeah.  Just using common or typical load profiles, yes, we could convert that to demand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm wondering how much demand that is.

MR. MARCHANT:  Yeah.  That's something I would have to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell me in ballpark?  Is it 100?  Is it 500?  Is it 1,000?  I mean...

MR. MARCHANT:  I mean, typically the suites peak at different times than the cooling, because you are cooling loads probably in the afternoon versus evening when a suite would peak.  So it is not a simple, straightforward answer, but I guess we could say it might peak at half a kilowatt a suite.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Half a kilowatt, okay.

But the building peak isn't just adding them all up, because they're not going to all peak at the same time.

MR. MARCHANT:  That's the problem.  I mean, everything peaks at different times.  You have base loads, like parking garages and common area lighting, which is on all the time, and then you add on the profiles of people, which -- you know, there is morning usage, and then evening usage, typically.

Then of course in the summer, you would overlay cooling loads and that sort of thing, so...

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you take one of these buildings, this typical building with 220 units, you take one of these buildings and right now let's say you're getting 250 -- sorry, $20,000 a year in revenue from that building as a GS-over-50.  This is just for argument's sake.  You take that building and you convert it to Quadlogic.  You're still going to be left with revenue from the GS-over-50 class; right?

MR. MARCHANT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you done an analysis of how much is left versus how much is moved over?

MR. MARCHANT:  I don't have an analysis with me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven't looked at that?

MR. MARCHANT:  I haven't studied it in depth, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Wouldn't you want to know the effect of converting buildings to Quadlogic on your GS-over-50 revenues?

MR. SEAL:  No.  For the purposes of rate design and rate forecasting, we do make sure that we move the load from the GS class over to the Quadlogic class or the suite meter class or the residential class.

So we make sure we move it over there, and determine the rates based on that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you're not actually moving it, right?  You're actually creating a new load in the Quadlogic class, but because the peaks aren't the same, and in any case it is a load class, not a demand class, you're not -- it is not actually comparable, right?  You can't add the two together and get what you had before, can you?

MR. MARCHANT:  You can't add kilowatts to kilowatt-hours, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they don't have the same peak, either.  So even if you were doing it all on demand, it would still be actually more than before, right?  Because it would be -- they aren't necessarily coincident?  This is what I was just told.

MR. MARCHANT:  Right.  But we don't bill the residential customers on demand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My point is it is not comparable.  You can't add the two together.  Even -- forget the additional costs now; you can't add the two together?

MR. SEAL:  If what you're saying, Mr. Shepherd, is you can't add up the demand for the individual units and the common area and expect to get the load for the GS class, you're right.  No, you can't, because of the coincidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then there is an impact on how much revenue you get, separate from your incremental costs, isn't there?  Doesn't that necessarily follow from that?

Because you are going to get less revenue from the GS-over-50 class, right?

MR. SEAL:  Right, because their load has dropped on that part of it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you can't, by looking at the load in the new Quadlogic class, assess what the drop is in the load from the GS-over-50 class, can you?  Because they're not actually connected?

MR. SEAL:  Well, we can make an estimate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that is what I was asking you.  Have you done that?

MR. SEAL:  When we did our -- for this study, as well as for when we do our rate cases every year, where we know that we have suite meter customers, yes, we do.

The exact number that we adjust for, I can't tell you off the top of my head.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to understand is -- you have this building, for example, the 220-unit building.  You've now suite metered all of the suites, using Quadlogic.  And now you have a different load on the GS-over-50 meter.

MR. SEAL:  Right.  So we estimate what the remaining load is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what is that number?

MR. SEAL:  I don't know off -- that's what I say I don't know off the top of my head.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have that?

MR. SEAL:  I beg your pardon?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that information you have?

MR. SEAL:  I believe I can find out how we adjust it, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So can you, then, undertake to provide us with that number, how much the -- on average, the GS-over-50 load demand drops, and therefore the revenue drops from that building, when you put it on Quadlogic metering?

MR. SEAL:  Yes, I can do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. SEBALJ:  It's JH3.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JH3.3:  TO PROVIDE ESTIMATE OF DROP IN LOAD DEMAND AND REVENUE AFTER QUADLOGIC INSTALLATION.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the next -- the logical next step to that is you are reducing the revenue from that building in the GS-over-50 class -- well, actually let me ask a preliminary question.

Not every building will remain over 50 once you suite meter it, right?  Some of them will actually become GS-under-50 at that point?

MR. McLORG:  Yes.  It is possible.  I think when we do our forecast, we have typically taken them from the GS-50-to-999 class.  We have not dropped them down to the GS-under-50 class.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but you should be, right?  I mean, you've got -- a number of these buildings are relatively low in terms of their load.

MR. SEAL:  If we were able to identify them specifically, yes.  But this is a forecast, don't forget, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand.  But in practice, if a building is at 80 kVA, and you suite meter it with a Quadlogic suite meter system, it is probably going to go under 50, right?

MR. SEAL:  Not my area of expertise, but I will take that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So in practice, would you, then, reclassify that customer?

MR. SEAL:  In actuality?  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But let's leave that one -- leave those ones aside.  They're a separate issue.

But on the ones that -- where you are getting rid of a bunch of their load but you are still keeping them in GS-over-50, the result is that you are shifting revenue out of the class, right?

Have you assessed whether you are shifting a similar amount of costs out of the class by the cost allocation system?

MR. SEAL:  On the basis of the cost allocation model and the allocators, the drivers of the allocators, for example, those demand allocators, we would be reducing the demand for that class and therefore the allocation of costs that are based on -- related to demand would also get adjusted.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So those would only be the ones that have a demand basis, right?

MR. SEAL:  That's the demand example, that's right.  If it was a customer basis, then it wouldn't change, because you still have the customer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So am I right in concluding that the result of suite metering a building, one result is that the costs borne by the remaining customers in GS-over-50 must necessarily increase, because not everything is allocated by demand?  Is that fair?

MR. McLORG:  So to be clear, Mr. Shepherd you're talking about the unit costs, so to speak, to the remaining customers?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. McLORG:  I think that you would have to say that to the extent that there were any fixed costs associated with a class that were allocated on some basis that wouldn't be affected by any of these changes, those costs would remain, but the billing determinants available in that class would decrease.  But I don't know whether there are any costs fixed in that sense.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well...

MR. SEAL:  Just one moment, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Go ahead.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SEAL:  Sorry, I was just clarifying with Mr. McLorg.

Within the cost allocation model, there is a number of allocators, the main ones being demand and the main ones being customers.  So to the extent that even if the demand drops for that particular class, they would be allocated less of the demand-related costs.

But they're still a customer.  If the fixed costs, the customer-based costs are still the same, they would still get allocated that same amount of fixed cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And those fixed costs are not all recovered in the fixed monthly charge, are they?  Some of them are recovered in the volumetric charge?

MR. SEAL:  The rate design does not exactly mimic, right now, fixed versus variable costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is true, isn't it, that the effect of Toronto Hydro suite metering a building will be that other customers in the GS-over-50 class will have higher rates?

We don't know how much.  You haven't studied this, right?  You don't know how much the impact is?

MR. SEAL:  I am not even clear necessarily that they would have higher rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, as long as we agree that there are fixed charges that are not included in the volumetric rates -- that are not included in the fixed rate, so they're recovered volumetrically, and the volume goes down, how can you mathematically have any other result but that the unit rate for volume must go up?

MR. SEAL:  But they're going to be assigned less cost, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but not all of the costs --


MR. SEAL:  But they will be assigned less of the demand costs, demand-related costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's assume that that all works out perfectly.

You still have the fixed costs, right?  That they're going to still be assigned the same amount, but there will be lower billing determinants, and therefore the unit rate has to go up?  Isn't that correct?

MR. McLORG:  I think that we can grant the math of that, Mr. Shepherd, and I think exactly the same thing happens when a general service customer over 50 goes out of business or reduces operations or moves out of the territory.

Those kind of load fluctuations, which are within the choice of the customer, do have effects on other customers in terms of how the total costs are spread.

I don't think that Toronto Hydro or any other utility could accept direct responsibility for the rate impacts that follow, for example, a customer going out of business, on the other customers in that class.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, of course this is different, though, right, because if Toronto Hydro provides the Quadlogic system, the costs for schools, for example, go up.

If Mr. O'Leary's clients supply that system, the costs for the other members of that class do not go up; is that correct?  Necessarily, isn't that correct?

MR. McLORG:  I think I can agree partially with what you're saying.

The exception that I would make is that Toronto Hydro doesn't march into buildings and convert them on its own accord.  Toronto Hydro, in accordance with the Distribution System Code, must respond to the wishes of customers in this regard.

So if the customer comes to us and says, I want to convert my building, we are bound by the Board to do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking a normative question.  I am just trying to understand what the result is of your participation in this market.

And the result is, it appears to me, that it is not symmetrical.  It is not consistent, whether you provide this service or the private sector does.  I think we have agreed on that one.

MR. McLORG:  I think that is fair.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And it may be that this is a very small impact.  Is that possible?

MR. McLORG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Or if it becomes a bigger activity over time, it could be a material impact.  Is that also fair?

MR. SEAL:  I think that to the extent that changes in the marketplace change, the base of customers and billing units over which Toronto Hydro can recover its costs, then there will be rate impacts on various classes as a result of that.

And, for example, if all of the apartment buildings in Toronto were to convert in the next five years to sub-metering, that would dramatically reduce the number of customers that Toronto Hydro would have, and it would occasion rate impacts for the rest of -- the remaining customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So my last question to you is - and this is probably somewhere in the material - what's the total number of buildings that could be suite metered using Quadlogic?  Do we know the total size of the market in Toronto?

MR. McLORG:  Mr. Shepherd, before Mr. Marchant perhaps answers this, I would just suggest that it may be possible to provide the number of buildings that, in theory, could be suite metered.

That wouldn't be indicative of the number of buildings for which suite metering by anyone would be economical.  And I think of my own building, my own condominium, as an example of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just want a sense of how big this is.  Are we talking 1,000 buildings?  10,000 buildings?  What are we talking about?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MARCHANT:  Actually, I don't really have a good figure to supply on that.

We know there's roughly, probably -- the last quote is about 15,000 new units being added a year, but I don't have a total value for you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is 15,000 units.  That is not 15,000 buildings; right?

MR. MARCHANT:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is like 20 buildings?

MR. MARCHANT:  15,000 units divided by, say, average 200, that is about 70 buildings, so...

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't have an idea of how many apartment buildings you have in the City of Toronto?

MR. MARCHANT:  I do have the figures.  I just don't have it with me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Would you undertake to provide that?

MR. MARCHANT:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.

MS. SEBALJ:  That is JH3.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JH3.4:  TO PROVIDE TOTAL NUMBER OF BUILDINGS THAT COULD BE SUITE METERED USING QUADLOGIC IN CITY OF TORONTO.

MS. HARE:  Can I jump in, because I am very confused?  Mr. McLorg, you just said if all the apartment buildings in the next five years were to convert to sub-metering, that would dramatically reduce the number of customers that Toronto Hydro would have and would occasion rate impacts for the rest of the remaining customers.

I don't understand that statement at all.  Right now, if the apartment is bulk metered and it goes to sub-metered suite meters, wouldn't that increase the number of customers you would have if you are the one doing it?

And if you're not the one doing it, if it is somebody else, one of the private sectors, then how are you any different?  I just don't understand what you said.

MR. McLORG:  And that is my fault, I'm sure.

What I had in mind and what I probably didn't express well was the scenario in which buildings that are presently metered by Toronto Hydro convert to metering by someone else.

MS. HARE:  Okay.

MR. McLORG:  Sorry for muddying the record in that way.

MS. HARE:  No.  Thank you.  That makes sense now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Those are all of our questions.  Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Ms. Sebalj.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Sebalj

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  I think that leaves us.  And with my apologies in advance, all of my prepared cross, except for a few small points, has been whittled away throughout the day, and then a couple of new areas of examination have come up.  So this may be fairly disjointed and you are just going to have to bear with me.

I am going to start with going back to this discussion about what I see as two -- there was an analysis of two runs of the cost allocation model which differ from each other with respect to direct allocation.

And there was a discussion at the technical conference about this, and of course we've had quite a bit of discussion today about whether or not Toronto Hydro directly allocated the Quadlogic meter costs.  And I think that is now clear on the record.

But my understanding is that the base case scenario, which is in the evidence in the most current filed evidence of Toronto Hydro, is that no costs are directly allocated for the Quadlogic meters; is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.  Nothing was directly allocated to that class.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And this morning, Mr. O'Leary asked you -- took you to the wholesale meter costs discussion that we had at the technical conference, and I think we've also cleared up some confusion around whether or not that would impact Toronto Hydro's opinion with respect to whether it was appropriate, or not, to do direct allocation.  Is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  It removed my objection to the methodology --


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.

MR. SEAL:  -- of directly allocating the meter capital costs.

MS. SEBALJ:  And that is -- I just wanted to ask.  I am going to pull up -- if I can make the technology work, which is an awfully large question -- yes, I think I just did.

I am now taking you to I7.1, which is the meter capital work sheet of the cost allocation model.  And my mouse is doing things I don't want it to.

And you will see there row 37 is the Quadlogic; is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  Only if I can keep it on my screen for more than four seconds.

And I think that row D -- or, sorry, column D is -- so that is the unit cost.  Let me just take you up so I am not asking you to confirm things that -- so the cost per meter installed is $550.

And then if we go across to columns H and I, the 25,033 is the number of meters, and the weighted metering cost is 13,768,150; is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And so the reason I am taking you to this is just to ask:  How did Toronto Hydro allocate admin and general costs to the Quadlogic class?

MR. SEAL:  They would have been allocated according to the logic of the model.

MS. SEBALJ:  So in the same way you allocate to all other classes?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And if the Board were to order you to directly allocate, how would that impact how you allocate admin in general to the Quadlogic class?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SEAL:  I think it would be a difficult exercise, because it would involve then taking the admin and general costs that we have for 2012, the forecasted costs in total, and trying to determine what part of that should be directly allocated to the Quadlogic class.

The direct allocation of the meter costs, once my objection to the wholesale meter component was dealt with, is a little cleaner, because we know those are meters.  We know how many there are.  We know the cost.  And the rest of the bucket shouldn't go.  We're saying the rest of those meters should not be allocated to the Quadlogic class, so we make sure we deal with that.

For admin in general, if you directly allocate to that class, you need to know how much and on what basis you are going to do that, and then whether the remaining bucket, there is some part of that that should or should not get allocated to the Quadlogic class.

So I guess that is my longish answer, to say it would be difficult.

MR. McLORG:  Could I add -- sorry.  Could I add just very briefly, Ms. Sebalj, that it wouldn't be clear to us on -- at first blush that we could devise a method that is superior to what the Board presently does, because admin and general costs are common costs and the Board has already supplied a cost allocation model to allocate those costs.  They're not directly observable; they have to be allocated in accordance with the methodology that the Board has established.

So it is unclear that we could devise a more direct way of doing that, or a superior way of doing that.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.

And moving to -- just a follow-on question to your discussion that you had with Mr. Buonaguro and some of the Members of the Panel with respect to meter reading.

Perhaps this is in the record somewhere, but if you could clarify.  Is the actual hardware that is used to process and store the data from Quadlogic meters the same hardware that is used for non-Quadlogic smart meters?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MARCHANT:  So as noted in our response on the capital costs, there were some hardware costs, which included some servers to actually store that data.

So we would pull in the data to these servers and store it there.

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, that is Quadlogic-specific?

MR. MARCHANT:  These two servers, yes, are Quadlogic-specific.

MS. SEBALJ:  And does that provide any -- is that a factor in the increased cost for Quadlogic meters?

MR. MARCHANT:  Not in the --


MS. SEBALJ:  For reading Quadlogic meters?  Sorry.

MR. MARCHANT:  Actually, by bringing it in, we're reducing the cost, but that is part of the capital cost of bringing it in-house.

MS. SEBALJ:  But as distinct from suite meters?  I am trying to draw the distinction.  I am trying to understand the two factors, and I won't bring you to it, but the 0.43 versus $1.58.

And I am wondering if one of those factors is hardware.

MR. MARCHANT:  Well, they're completely distinct.  So the suite metering, it's separate hardware.  It is separate reading software that we use to read it, so...

MS. SEBALJ:  And similarly, is the telecommunications equipment separate and distinct as between Quadlogic and non-Quadlogic suite metering?

MR. MARCHANT:  So in terms of the actual phone lines, we do have some dedicated phone lines to read these meters.

And then in terms of the actual -- when you're talking telecommunication, each building has transponders which pick up the data from within each individual building, and that is part of the $550.

MS. SEBALJ:  I now wanted to, if I may, pick up on, again, something that you were discussing with Mr. O'Leary earlier today, and that has to do with an RFP for an outside vendor.

You will recall that you were discussing with Mr. O'Leary the marketing costs, the $90,000.  It was in the earlier BDR studies and is not in the most current evidence.

And in the most current evidence, you have indicated that no expenses have been directly allocated to the suite metered class with respect to marketing costs.

And I am a tiny bit confused, because in this most current evidence, there was a discussion about Quadlogic meters and the fact that the technology may change and you will be going out for an RFP because your current contract for the supply of the meters themselves is ending at the end of 2011; is that correct?

MR. MARCHANT:  That's correct, although, as I mentioned, it has been extended to the -- to April 1st.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And is that RFP separate and distinct from the RFP that you were discussing with Mr. O'Leary earlier today?

MR. MARCHANT:  I have only been discussing one RFP.

MS. SEBALJ:  Right.

MR. MARCHANT:  So we're putting an RFP out for -- to replace or allow the marketplace to bid on the supply, install and sales part of the suite metering business.

So it is conceivable it could be another meter technology, but not -- I wouldn't say that is likely.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And so that is the part -- you have just alleviated my confusion.  So this is one RFP for supply, install and sales.

And it was the direct sales piece that you were discussing with Mr. O'Leary this morning?

MR. MARCHANT:  Correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  Bit it would be one vendor-provider that will be bidding -- providers will be bidding to provide both the hardware, the actual equipment, the installation of the hardware, and direct sales?

MR. MARCHANT:  Correct.  It is different than the previous RFP, which included the meter reading costs, which we're now bringing in-house.

MS. SEBALJ:  And is that the only way in which the current RFP is different?

MR. MARCHANT:  I mean, we've made some subtle changes, but I didn't write the original RFP.  I have reviewed the current RFP, so I haven't, line-by-line, checked to see what the exact differences are.  The business model is similar, though.

MS. SEBALJ:  And this is the RFP that is -- bids are due on January 6th; is that correct?

MR. MARCHANT:  Correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  Would it be possible for you to provide - perhaps it is not a line-by-line - but a comparison of the terms of the services that you wish to outsource in the current RFP versus the previous RFP?

MR. MARCHANT:  Sure.  If it would help clarify, we could provide that.

MS. SEBALJ:  So what I am looking for is a description of the services.  So that would be undertaking JH3.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JH3.5:  TO PROVIDE DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES IN CURRENT AND PREVIOUS RFP, AND TO HIGHLIGHT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE TWO.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Let me just ask, Ms. Sebalj, the undertaking would be, then, to provide the distinguishing differences between the two?  Or a general description of both that is more inclusive, as opposed to the services that are being sought, as opposed to just the distinguishing differences?

MS. SEBALJ:  Obviously, I think the latter would be preferable.  If we could have a description of the two RFPs and then perhaps a sub (b), which is to highlight for us the differences between the two.

I am trying to avoid asking for the RFP, in anticipation of your legal counsel telling me that it will be rife with confidentiality concerns, but trying to get a handle on what, if anything, has changed, and how -- and how the RFPs compare.

So if you could do both of those things, that would be helpful.

MR. MARCHANT:  Sure.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, I am trying to read my chicken scratch.  I think, unless my colleagues kick me under the table, there is one more area.

I was going to take you to this -- to the demand data, which is work sheet I8 of the cost allocation model.  I will, again, take you to the top.  These are, as you know, very awkward to work with, but I will first take you to the top so you can see what we're dealing with.

So it's I8, "Demand data work sheet."

And then the first column is residential, the second column is Quadlogic, and the third is GS-less-than-50.

I am looking -- because I am told it is probably the most appropriate rows to look at -- at 62, rows 62 and 64.

And you will see there that -- so this is primary non-coincident peak and secondary non-coincident peak, and I think the four refers to the fact that it is the four-month peak.

So for the primary non-coincident peak for Quadlogic, which is column E, it is 78,048.  And I believe that's kilowatts; is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  That's my understanding.

MS. SEBALJ:  And then in row 64, it is 6,244, which is the secondary.  And that, by my math, works out to 8 percent, which takes us again back to the discussion you were having with Mr. O'Leary of 8 percent secondary as compared to primary for the Quadlogic class; is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.  This reflects it in the demand side.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And then column D is residential, as I indicated at the outset.  And those are, for all intents and purposes, virtually equal for primary and secondary.

And my understanding from my subject matter expert is that there is a reason that secondary is higher than primary that is unrelated to the discussion that I need to have here.

But the question is whether, given the discussion we have had today, Toronto Hydro would be able to reflect in the model the fact that residential is likely to have -- to also have a differential between primary and secondary in terms of how those -- in terms of how those units are fed.  Because the suite meter, non-Quadlogic, are in the residential class, is there not going to be a differential between primary and secondary as a result of that?

Non-Quadlogic suite metered are in this class, and they are also likely to be primarily primary?  I don't know how --


MR. SEAL:  I am just thinking about that for a second.

MS. SEBALJ:  -- large the difference will be, whether it will be so small as to have no impact, because of course the number of non-Quadlogic suite meters in this class are low as compared to the rest of the residential meters -- residential suite meters.

But I am wondering if Toronto Hydro would be able to do that.

MR. SEAL:  I am just thinking whether it is appropriate or not.  I am not sure I can answer that off -- without giving it some more thought.

MS. SEBALJ:  Are you able to tell me what your concerns are?

MR. SEAL:  Well, I think what you're asking me is if we recognize that there are suite meter customers, non-Quadlogic suite meter customers, in the residential class that we have here -- and we recognize, as we've seen from the BDR study, that not all of them get secondary -- whether there shouldn't be an adjustment to this particular demand for the residential class to recognize that.  I think that is what you are asking me.

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, that is what I'm asking you.

MR. SEAL:  Okay.

MS. SEBALJ:  But when you say -- is it because it would be so small as to have no impact, or is it because notionally you don't think it is correct?

MR. SEAL:  I actually haven't answered yet, because I am still thinking about it.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  I mean, I am happy to take it as an undertaking if you want to think about it, and then if the answer is, yes, a change should be made, if you could suggest what that change would be.

MR. SEAL:  I would like to take it as an undertaking, just so I can think about it, and whether there are implications or not within the model.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  We will call it JH3.6.

UNDERTAKING NO. JH3.6:  TO REFLECT IN THE RESIDENTIAL MODEL HOW THE UNITS ARE FED AND PROVIDE ANSWER AS TO WHETHER RESIDENTIAL CLASS IS LIKELY TO HAVE A DIFFERENTIAL BETWEEN PRIMARY AND SECONDARY COSTS, AND RELATE BACK TO WHAT BDR DID IN THEIR STUDY. 


MS. SEBALJ:  And if you are able to as part of that answer relate it back to what BDR did in this respect, that would be helpful.  In the BDR studies I think there was a different treatment with respect to primary versus secondary.

MR. SEAL:  Okay.  I will have to look for that.  Our treatment was the same, to the best of my knowledge.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.

MR. SEAL:  But I will look at that when I am answering this question.

MS. SEBALJ:  If you can check, and let us know if it was.

I think this is the last area.  Member Taylor asked you to provide an example of $100 that had been directly allocated, and assuming that $100 gets pulled out of the direct allocation.  I believe your answer, but you can correct me if I am wrong, as that that amount then gets allocated across all customer classes.

Remind me whether you said on a demand or customer count basis.

MR. SEAL:  It depends what it is that you are allocating.  If we were talking about the secondary costs - or, sorry, the primary costs, primary costs are allocated on a customer basis.

MS. SEBALJ:  Right.  And so I just wanted to clarify on that, and this relates back to something Mr. Shepherd was discussing with you, but sort of in a different context.

If you pull that amount out, obviously the number of Quadlogic customers then goes up.  So the statement -- this is just sort of a very detailed question, but the statement that it then gets allocated across all customer classes on the same basis is not actually accurate, is it, because the number of Quadlogic customers increases and, therefore, the allocator changes?

MR. SEAL:  I'm sorry, Ms. Sebalj, can you repeat that from the beginning?  I think I missed the beginning.

MS. SEBALJ:  No.

[Laughter]

MS. SEBALJ:  So when you pull out this notional hypothetical $100, which was otherwise directly allocated, and you are taking it from that because now you have a Quadlogic-metered building and, therefore, the number of Quadlogic meters goes up -- so in that customer class you will have an increased number of customers; is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And, therefore, there will be a change, however small, to the allocator itself.

So the Quadlogic customers also get some of that $100 allocated to them, and in an increased amount, because there is now a larger number of customers in that class and a larger demand?

MR. SEAL:  Well, they would get it on the basis of the allocator.  So if that allocator went up, the number of customers, then, yes, they would get more.  But that is appropriate.  That is exactly what the model is supposed to do, because we're saying that those costs are driven by that particular allocator.

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  And that is fine, and I just wanted to make sure the record was clear in that respect.

And I believe, unless -- I think those are all Board Staff's questions.  Thank you very much.
Questions by the Board


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thanks, Ms. Sebalj.  I just have a couple of -- well, one particular one that might come out of the answer, as well.

If perhaps I could have the panel turn to the document brief that Mr. O'Leary was using in his cross or his actual brief, tab 1, and turn to page 4 of 13?

I would just like to -- perhaps if you could describe in a little more detail.  In the second paragraph, we're talking about the differential in pricing.  Without getting into the quantum of any of the items that are listed here, or an aggregate, just the ones that are listed on the last line, line 11, relate to inspections, network meters and larger three-phase meters.

Could you explain those three items as to what they pertain to?

MR. MARCHANT:  So the first item is inspections.  So late in 2010, we became aware of Measurement Canada requirements for inspection.  So it is called the S-E-04 inspection.

So that added to the cost, because we had to now incorporate that into the unit cost for installing the meters.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. MARCHANT:  And then the network and larger three-phase meters, that is, as the sophistication of the condominiums have increased, you're getting larger penthouses, which in some instances have three-phase service and some unique electrical metering requirements.  So they have been driving costs.

And what is not mentioned here is installation costs have been creeping up, just because the condo market is extremely, extremely hot right now.  So that tends to drive up sub-contractor costs, as well.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  The larger three-phase meters is the one that took me aback the most.

But I am not all that -- now that you have given me the answer, I take it you have a three-phase service to these buildings and some the units are using all three phases to -- in their wiring on a sub-metering basis?

MR. MARCHANT:  Yes.  We have come across -- I mean, there are some really large condos that are being built now for people with a lot more money than myself, so substantial electrical loads.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, understood.  Thank you.

That is all I had.  Mr. Rodger, perhaps if you would like to redirect, but I'd like to close off.  Perhaps we will do this now, and then if you want to address it, as well, or care to address it.

But it has been mentioned a couple of times, reference to, in some of the questions, the cross-examination and some of the answers today.  It appears to the Panel that there is maybe a bit of a grey area as to what the scope of this phase 2 has been.

I would just like to reiterate the decision here.  Typically, the Board doesn't, from the dais, interpret its own decision, so I am not going to do that.  But I will -- this goes to the weight on which we would place any argument that questions what we're doing here, or goes to an area which we would think is outside of the scope, given the decision.

I do look at this as we issued a partial decision, and within that partial decision, we scoped this phase.  So I would just like to reiterate that.

And this is on page 35, the second full paragraph:  
"The Board has determined that the creation and maintenance of a separate rate class for multi-residential customers that at the present time are served by utilizing Quadlogic technology is the most effective and transparent manner in which to address the aforementioned issues."

This phase was not, in the Board's view, one to determine whether or not the creation of a class was being contemplated or should be contemplated, that the class will be.

And to the extent that any arguments come up around the question "if," based on this they're not likely to get the Board's attention in a big way.  Okay?

MR. RODGER:  Thank you for that.  That is Toronto Hydro's understanding, Mr. Chair.  And I have no redirect. 
Procedural Matters


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Well, with that, thank you very much.

Thank you, witness panel, for being forthright.  You have been very helpful, as usual.  And we do have -- I am prematurely shuffling my papers here, so I'm doing a quick exit.

But we do have a schedule to consider as far as argument, and Ms. Sebalj, I don't know if there has been any canvassing of the parties or if there's been a need to be.

MS. SEBALJ:  There was informal canvassing of a few much the parties, and I think the consensus was in writing.  Given that we have a couple of days left, I don't think anyone had an appetite for doing an oral submission this week.  But we have not spoken about dates specifically.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. O'Leary or Mr. Rodger?  Anyone like to discuss this first? 

MR. O'LEARY:  I am assuming that the Panel would require some time to answer the undertakings that have been given today.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  So whatever time is needed there.  And then I am sure we can deal with matters fairly efficiently, recognizing that we are about to enter into the holiday season.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  Understood. 

MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chairman, I think with the undertakings we have to answer, and the balance of the week some of my colleagues will be up here for the Board stakeholder consultation, so I think we would endeavour to try and answer the undertakings by the beginning of next week.

And perhaps if we could file our argument-in-chief a week today, next Wednesday, if that suits the Board? 

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, it does, Mr. Rodger. 

Okay.  And as far as any submissions on the follow-up from the intervenors?  Mr. O'Leary? 

MR. O'LEARY:  If we receive my friend's argument on the Wednesday, I would like to think that we would be able to circulate ours and get instructions back and have something to you by early the following week.  I am not sure what date that is. 

If today is the 7th, the 14th... say the 20th, Tuesday, the 20th? 

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I think that is acceptable to the Board. 

Then given the holiday schedule after that, Mr. Rodger, take that into consideration for your response. 

MR. RODGER:  Maybe the second week in January?  I don't have a calendar for the new year in front of me, but -- oh, wait, I do.  How about the second week back, perhaps Thursday, January 12th for reply? 

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. O'Leary?

MR. O'LEARY:  I have no difficulty with my friend bringing his reply in there.  I had proposed the December 20th date with a view to trying to get it done before the end of the year.  If that is not going to happen, then perhaps there is no reason for us to try and run it through by the 20th.

MR. QUESNELLE:  If we hold the 12th as an end date and we split the difference somehow, Mr. O'Leary, I think that will maybe move yours out a bit.

MR. O'LEARY:  I would prefer it to not be the 24th. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  No.  Understood.  If you had until the 23rd?


MR. O'LEARY:  That would be satisfactory, sir. 

MR. RODGER:  Then there will be really no one available the following week, sir, being the Christmas week.  Then that brings us to the first part of January. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think, given that we're moving to the 23rd, the 12th is still acceptable, Mr. Rodger.

MR. RODGER:  Okay.  Well, thank you very much. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  With that, if there is no other matters -- I am looking at Staff.  Everything okay, Ms. Sebalj?  Yes?

All right.  With that, thank you very much.  We are adjourned.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 3:36 p.m. 
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